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PREFACE.

Tue first two paragraphs of this work briefly explain the
reasons which seemed to justify its publication. In the search
for original documents which the task I had proposed to my-
self involved, a great quantity of material was collected,
consisting of original despatches, letters, notes, and diaries of
persons who had either taken part in the events described, or
had held high office at the time.

The natural result of examination and selection from so
great a mass of matter was that, as originally compiled, the
work was on too Iarge a scale. It had to be done over again
go as to reduce its dimensions by a half. Though, in this
process, much that was interesting to myself and to some
of my friends has disappeared, I do not doubt that the book
has gained substantially.

The confidence and kindness with which records of great
importance were placed at my disposal deserve grateful ac-
knowledgment ; as also do the personal interest and trouble
taken by many correspondents in answering references.

The letters, &c., are as far as possible transcribed as they
were written, though occasionally the retention of expressions
ambiguous or inelegant has resulted. Major Broadfoot often
wrote important letters under great pressurc, and the supply
9f gsome verbal corrections or inferpolations for the sake of
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lucidity seemed absolutely necessary ; but these are few and
for the most part indicated by brackets. Where there are
omissions, that which is left out is either irrelevant, or
likely to hurt the feelings of some survivor of the events, or
of his descendants and friends. But in a work of this kind,
where current errors have to be corrected, it is perhaps im-
possible entirely to avoid the publication of remarks which
may be displeasing to some. Serious and sincere endeavour
has been made to avoid this wheve no maferial injury to truth
seemed to be involved; and if this endeavour has not been
always successful, I must ask my reader for kindly construc-
tion.

Transliteration of Indian names is a vexed and troublesome
business. In quotations the forms used in the originals have
as far as possible been preserved. In the rest of the text
uames are spelt according to the official system as exhibited
in Hunter’s ¢ Imperial Gazetteer of India,” only after the first
appearance of a name I have dispensed with the repetition of
dineritical marks.

As regards the frequent recurrence of the term ¢ political *
in an Anglo-Indian sense, it may be as well fo recall a few
words of Macaulay : ¢ The only branch of politics about which
they [the English functionaries at Fort Willlam] much busied
themselves was negotiation with the native princes. . . . We
may remark that the phraseology of the Company’s servants
still bears the traces of this state of things. To this day they
always use the word ¢ political ”’ as synonymous with * diplo-
matic.””’

It will be observed that George Broadfoot’s private life is
scarcely notieed ; nor would the case have been materially
different bad the work been issued on the larger scale origin-
ally confemplated. In fact I know little of it, nor do the
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papers in my possession throw much light on the subject.
But it is only fair to say that in the documents quoted not a
single sentence hag been suppressed with the view of conceal-
ing defects in his character or conduct.

The indulgence of the reader for many faults in bhe com-
position of this book is solicited. I have tried to be accurate
and to avoid offence, but am well aware thal sucesss is difti-
cult, and perhaps not possible.

Special acknowledgment is due to the following persons
for a great variety of assistance :—

To Col. Henry Yule, C.B., R.E., for help and advice which
no words of mine can adequately describe. From its com-
mencement he hag taken the kindest interest in tlis book; he
has read the manuseript of the work as originally compiled,
and the proofs in its present condensed form. This was done
by a man much occupied and in indifferent health; and here
I beg to record my sincere gratitude for and recognition of
the inestimable advantage of the corrections suggested by his
reading and experience.

He has placed publisher and editor under further obliga-
tion by presenting the autofype frontispiece as a friendly
contribution to the book from one who, after more than forty
years, keeps a grateful and admiring remembrance of its
subject. The sketch is mainly a recollection,! but has re-
ceived some aid from imperfect materials representing
Broadfoot in his younger days.

To Viscount Hardinge, for much information about Major
Broadfoot ; for many original letters and despatcehes connected
with the Punjab ; and for reading part of the manuseript and
adding remarks which have a special value from one who was

! Viz of Major Broadfoot, s he rode into Karndl, in January 1843, accom-
panying Lord Ellenborough from the Camp at ¥irozpur,
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private secrotary to the Governor-General in 1844, and through-
out the first Sikh war.

To Liord Colchester, for permission to see and use a great
nwber of letters and despabches among the late Lord Jllen-
borough’s papers, including some written by Major Broadfoot.
The information thus acquired has heon of great value.

To Mr. R. N. Cust, for a memorandum on the cvents of
the last year of Major Broadfoot’s life, during which he was
that officer’s personal and confidential assistant. Also for the
use of hooks, and for much general assistance and encourage-
ment very kindly afforded.

To Gen. 8. A. Abbott, for a memorandum deseribing events
before and after the outhreak of the first Sikh war, including
the battle of Firozshah; and for many other minor but most
valuable aids.

To Mrs. Colin Mackenazie, for letters, books, and documents
relating to Afghanistan, to her distinguished husband, and to
Greorge Broadfoot.

To Murs. Jackson, for various letters and doecuments.

To My. 1. B. Backhouse, son of the late Col. Julius B.
Backhouse, C.B., Bengal Artillery, for his father’s diavy, kept
during the first Afohan war. It contains matter ¢ curious and
gurprising.’

To Mr. H. W. Lawrenee, for letters, papers, and journals
of his father, the late Sir Henry Lawrence, for letters to G.
Broadfoot, &ec.

To Sir Lionel and Lady Smith-Gordon, for original letters
by Lldred Pottinger.

To General Sir Fred. P. Haines, K.C.B., G.C.8.1., &e.,
for information respecting the early part of the first Sikh
war.

To the late Sir Robert Montgomery, K.C.B., G.C.8.1.;
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Sir Henry Rawlinson, K.C.B.; Sir Owen DBurne, K.C.8.I,
C.I.I. ; the late Mr, C. C. Prinsep; Mr. I'. C. Danvers; Mr.
C. Grey; Dr. Rost, C.I.IL. ; Mr. Wade; and others connected
with the India Office, for a great variety of assistance mo
courteously given. And to their names I must add those
I'. M. Lord Napier of Magdila ; Lady Edwardes; Sir Alexander
Cunningham, K.C.I.E.,and hisnephew, Mr. W. A. Cunningham ;
Siv J. Campbell Brown, M.D., K.C.B.; Gen. G. B. Tremen-
heere, R.T. ; General Maclagan, R.T0. ; Lient.-Gen. Sir Andrew
Clarke, G.C.M.G., C.B,, C.L.L., R.E.; Mr. T. H. Thornton,
.C.S.I., D.C.L.; Major-Gen. R. Young, R.E.; Colonel Sir
James Browne, K.C.8.I, R.IL. ; Mr. Boyd Kinnear ; and last,
but not least, My, John Murray and his partners ; from whom
T have received advice and information of much value,

Greab numbers of letters and despatches were copied by
Mrs. Broadfoot, a worl spread over several years, and some
by Mrs. Wood, to both of whom acknowledgment for assistance
is due. In addition, Mrs, Brozdfoot carefully examined both
manuscript and proofs.

The names of the books chiefly consulted will be found in
the following note.

W. BROADIOOT,
Major, B.E.
Lauper, N.B.: Sept. 1, 1888.
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SERVICES

or

MAJOR GEORGE BROADFOOT, C.B.

CHAPTER 1
1807-41.

Introductory —Early yoars of George Broadfoot—Appointed to the Madras
Army—Selected for service in Afghanistan—Chief events which preceded
invasion—The Indus bridged at Sukkur—Xabul occupied—Subsequent
Disturbances—Parwin Pass, death of Licut. J. 8. Broadfoot—DBroadfoot’s
Sappers— Convoy of Shah Zamin and the ladies of the Harem to Kabul
—Confusion and incapacity prevalent there.

Tur letters and journals of ‘the late Major George Broadfoot,
C.B., contain much of the secret or unwritten history of some
of the most important and interesting events connected with
our Indian Empire in its relations with Afghanistan during
the first Afghan war, and with the Punjab prior to and at
the beginning of the first Sikh war.

Carcful study of thesc records appeared to establish their
importance. The power and talent evident in many of the
papers; the noble sentiments expressed in some of them,
written when calamity was avenging the errors of a vieious
gystem, and despondency had settled deep in the hearts of
brave men ; and last, but not least, the errors, the existence
of which they indicate, in the accepted histories of that time,
geemed to warrant their collection and publication.

The subjects referred o are the first Afghan war, 1838-42 ;
the administration of the Tenasserim Provinces, 1848-44; and

B
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the conduct of the policy with the Punjab, 1844—45, when the
Sikhs invaded British India and war was declared.

George Broadfoot was the eldest surviving son of the
Rev. William Broadfoot. He was born at Kirkwall, in the
Orkney Islands, in 1807. In 1817 Mr. Broadfoot leff Kirkwall
and settled in London. He had no tie to the former place ;
hig family, he used to say, came from the neighbourhood of
Bradford, in Yorkshire, and a branch of them lived in Gallo-
way and in the south of Lanarkshire.! The change to London
was weleome to Mr. Broadfoot, and of advantage to his sons
in the matter of education. George was sent to various day
schools and was taught privately ; his brothers were educated
at Westminster. As two of them are mentioned in letters
hereafter quoted, they may now be briefly introduced. William,
born in 1810, went to India at the age of fifteen, and was
appointed Ensign in the 1st European Regiment, now the
1st Battalion Royal Munster Fusiliers. James Sutherland,
the youngest of the family, was born in 1816. He was
appointed in 1835, from Addiscombe, to the Bengal Engineers.

At an early age George seems to have given promise of the
abiliby and resolution for which he was afterwards distin-
guished. One of his masters, Mr. Hunt, spoke of him in these -
terms: ‘Mr. Broadfoot, you are indeed happy in your son:
his talents are of the highest order, and he has a spirit which
no difficulty can impede. There is no difficulty to him. Set
but a noble end in view, away he goes, straight to the mark,
clearing every obstacle, distancing every competitor.’ In
character he was ardent, fearless, and impetuous; the head
of his class, and the leader of his companions in their gameés
out of school.

In"1825 he obtained a cadetship in the K.I. Company’s
gervice and sailed for Madras. On arrival he was posted to
the 84th M.N.I. It is unnecessary to dwell long on the period
during which he served with his regiment ; he used the time
well, acquired knowledge of the detail of regimental duty, and
the reputation of being a good regimental officer and an excep-
tionally good linguist. Two intimate friends of those early

! Sir Hew or Hugo de Bradfute, married Sir William Wallace, the
of Lamington, was the head of this  Scottish hero; their daughter married
branch ; his only daughter, Marion,  Capt. Baillie. '
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days may here be mentioned : Colin Mackenzie,? who had been
a fellow-passenger to India; and Dr. Maleolmson, surgeon of
the regiment, to whom in after years he wrote many interest-
ing letters from Afghanistan.

After seven years’ service Broadfoot returned to England,
and was absent from India for the wnusually long period of
five years. Whilst on leave he continned to study his pro-
fession; he travelled in France, Germany, and Italy, made
himself acquainted with their history and forms of govern-
ment, and to some extent acquired their languages. During
the last year of his leave he was appointed Orderly Officer at
Addiscombe College. There he studied fortification and other
branches of military education, then considered unnecessary
for an infantry officer. When remonstrated with for over-
working, and told that his health would suffer, and that he
knew his own work well enough, he replied: * Well enough to
be food for powder, or to lead a company properly into action ;
but to command an army, to have the lives of other men de-
pendent on you, is another sort of affair and requiresa different
preparation. In India, when an emergency arises—and sooner
or later it will arise—the men fit to meet it will be found out
and brought to the front. When work has to be done, the
fitbest man will get it to do. No man can say what the work
may be: to raise, organise, and command an army ; to arrange
a question of diplomacy; or to direct or assist in the civil
administration of a province. Ience the importance of being
prepared.’

It is strange to think that within the brief space of six
years he was called upon to raise and command a regiment
of sappers; to fortify Jaldlibid as garrison engineer; to
reform the civil administration of the Tenasserim Provinces;
and to conduct the diplomatic relations between the Govern-
ment of India and the Punjab.

On his return to India in IFebruary 1838 he was appointed
to the Commissariab Department of the Madras Army, under
Col. Cullen.?

2 A distinguished soldier and one ¥ Mnjor-Gen.  William  Cullen,
of the prisoners in Afghanistan. Ilis  Madras Artillery, was an officer of
life has lately been written by Mrs.  great talent and an urdent reformer.
Mackenzie, under the title Stormsand  He was edueated at Woolwich, ap-
Sunshine of @ Soldier’s Life. pointed in 1803 to the Artillery, nnd

B
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Broadfoot soon diseovered much that required reorganisa-
tion and reform. Supported by his chief, but opposed by
almost all the rest of the department, he carried his point.
His report was considered to have been able and exhaustive,
and his services on this occasion were brought prominently
to the nofice of Lord Aueckland, then Governor-General.
Col. Cullen submitted the wreport to Lord Illphinstone,
Governor of Madras, who wrote as follows :

August 24, 1840,

I have been much interested by Capt. Broadfoot’s memoranda
on the Tenasserim Provinces.

He is certainly a very able officer, and a great logs to ns. T
shall write to him to say that if he doeg not find Afghanistan quite
s0 agreeable as he expected, that he must let me hear from him,
and that if T can further his views I shall have much pleasure in
so doing; but I fear (for ug) that they will not let him come bacl,
and perhaps his abilities will be more usefully employed in that
quarter than they would in a more peaceful sphere.

I shall certainly request Sir S. Whittingham’s 4 early attention
to the subject of our forece at Maulmein, and I shall particularly
point out to him the suggestions of Capt. Broadfoot. The evils of
the present gystem are so clearly demonstrated by him, and might
prove of sueh incaleulable injury fo the Service, both in the most
extended sense of the word, and in particular to the Madras Army,
that T hope we shall be able to induce the Supreme Government to
apply a remedy.

TI'rom some expressions of Capt. Broadfoot, I am led to believe
that his report, and the very interesting appendix, have been
already submitted in some shape or other by him to the Supreme
Government, Can you inform me if this is the case ? If not, I should
be very mueh inclined to lay them before the Governor-General.

Beliove me &e.
ErraINgTONE.

Before this letter was written the war in Afghanistan had
commenced. William and James Broadfoot had already dis-
tinguished themsclves; it was natural, therefore, that George

after holding many offices was made  return to England, and died in 1862.
Commissaty-General in 1834, In 1840 ¢ Sir Samford Whittingham, Com-
he was Resident at the Court of Tra-  mander-in-Chief, Madras.

vancore. He retired, but did not
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should wish to go there. DBut the question arose whether
he was justified in giving up an appointment in which he
had done well, and going amongst comparative strangers to
Afghanistan on the pay of his rank. After carcful considera-
tion, Lord Dlphinstone Col. Cullen, and Dr. Malcolmson
approved of his going; nearly everybody else who was con-
sulted, except himself, was against the step. When he gof
the option he determined to go, though Lord Auckland very
kindly pointed out the difficulties in his way, which were such,
he thought, ag to hiold out the prospeet of a hard struggle for
several years.

Before deseribing Broadfoot’s somewhat exciting journey
to Iiibul, it is desirable fo recount briefly the main ineidents
which preceded our invasion of Afghanistan.

In that country, consolidated into an empire in 1747 by
Shah Abmad, Abdéli, Shah Shuja, the legitimate successor
to his throne, had been defeated and driven away by Dost
Muhammad Khan, Barakzdi. The Shah, after many adven-
tures, was a refugee in British India, and Ranjit Singh, the
Maharaja of the Punjab, had seized and held Peshawar.
British anxiety for the welfare of Afghanistan was first roused
when there seemed to be a possibility of invasion by I'rance
and Russia combined. That danger was removed by the
victories of the Duke of Wellington, but not before missions
to the Punjab and to Afghanistan had been sent.

In 1837 DBritish interest was again excited by the news
that the Persians, instigated by Russia, had despatched an
army to besiege Herat, and Liord Auckland sent a mission to
Dost Muhammad under the conduct of Alexander Burnes.

That officer, already known asg a traveller in Central Asia,
had many qualifications which justified his selection, but he
was so hampered by restrictions as to be able to make no
substantial promises of aid fo the Amiy, whilst he was in-
structed to demand mueh [rom him. The Amir very naturally
turned from him to Vicovich, the Russian Agent; Burnes’s -
mission was withdrawn, and the Government of India took
immediate steps to dethrone Dost Muhammad and plnco Shah
Shuja on the Kabul throne.

What is known as the Tripartite Treaty was negofiated
between the Government of India, Ranjit Singh, and Shah
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Shuja, whereby the first and second parties contracted to
agsist the third to re-establish himgelf on his throne.

A large force was assembled at Karndl, and on October 1,
1888, Lord Auckland issued his manifesto, in which Durand
hag said ® ¢ the words ‘‘justice ” and ‘‘ necessity ” . . . were
applied in a manner for which there is fortunately no prece-
dent in the English language,’” and of which Sir H. Edwardes
remarked,® that ‘ the views and conduct of Dost Muhammad
Khan were misrepresented with a hardihood which a Russian
statesman might have envied.” Sir H. Fane, Commander-in-
Chief in India, was to have led the Brifish troops; but shortly
before their departure news was received that the siege of
Herat had been raised, and that the Persian troops with their
accompanying Russian officers had retired. Though this
movement was determined by British action in the Persian
Gulf, yet no notice of the siege, however brief, can be made
without acknowledging that the honour of the defence is due
to Lieut. Fildred Pottinger, of the Bengal Artillery, who appears
to have been in the city in an unofficial capacity disguised as
a horse merchant. Consequent on this event the strength of
the British army was reduced, and its command devolved on
Sir John Keane. Sir W. Macnaghten was appointed Envoy
and Minister, to the disappointment of Captains Burnes and
Wade. The mischievous device of separating the supreme
military from the diplomatic conduct of the campaign having
been accepted, it was thought necessary to associate with the

General a person of higher relative rank than that of Captain. -

The arrangement had practically the effect of subordinating
a General commanding an army in the field to civil authority
which accompanied him wherever he went. No more perfect
contrivance to insure disaster could have been imagined.

The Shah with his own force accompanied the British
army. Space cannot be afforded to follow minutely the
movements of the troops from Firozpur to' Rohri, and thence
across the Indus at Sukkur to Kandahar, Ghazni, and Kabul ;
but certain incidents which have been overlooked in some of
the accounts of the march, or about which information from
fresh sources has been collected, will be described.

s First Afghan War, p. 81.
® Life of Sir H. Lawrence, vol. i, p. 283.
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Amongst these, one of the most sorious difficulties, success-
fully surmounted, was to bridge the Indus and to pass the
army with its stores and baggage across.

No one who has seen that river can doubt the magnitude
of the task, even if every appliance which science could sug-
gest had been at hand. Bub on this oceasion, as on many
others, the engineer was confronted with the obstacle, and
left to overcome it with such means as nature had provided.

The Engineer officers with the forece were Capt. Thomson,
Chief Tingineer ; Capt. Sanders; Lieuts. Anderson, Durand,
Sturt, MeLeod, Pigou, and James S. Broadfoot. In a lettor
dated Shikarpur, February 9, 1839, the last-mentioned officer
wrote :

The Engineers went on ahead to Bukkur, an island in the Indus
twenty miles from here. We were on the bank of a river, 1,100 7 yards
wide, with a torrent like & mill stream ; we had eight boats, and
there was nothing near us but a small village; here we had to make
a bridge over the river. First we seized, by great exertion, about
120 boats, then cut down lots of trees; these we made into strong
beams and planks; there was no rope, but we made 500 cables out
of a peculiar kind of grass which grows 100 miles from here ; the
anchors were made of small trees joiued and loaded with half o
ton of stone. Our nails were all made on the spot. We then
anclhiored the boats in the middle of the stream, in a line across,
leaving twelve feet between each; strong beams were laid across
the boats, and planks nailed on these for a roadway. This ig the
largest military bridge which has ever been made; and as we had
no towns like Iuglish ones to give us workmen and stores for the
agking, you may conceive what labour we had in finishing it in
cleven days.

Capt. Backhouse, of the Bengal Artillery, an able officer
and intelligent observer, remarked: ¢The Engineers give
themselves, and with great justice, no little eredit for their
job: since they have here made themsclves almost every
article in use, with the exception of the boats.” He has fur-
ther recorded with natural indignation an arrangement, for
which a DBrigadier-General was responsible, whereby his guna

7 At the island of Bukkur there 500 and 367 yards wide respoctively.
are two channels seid to have been  (First Afghan War, p. 122.)

A
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were on one side of the river and their ammunition on the
other !

After a narrow escape from starvation the army reached
Kandahar, where the General committed the extraordinary
error of leaving behind him four 18-pounder guns, the only
ones with his force suitable for breaching purposes. When
Ghazni was reached the want of these guns became apparent,
and the position of the British force was critical in the ex-
treme. Before it lay the fort of Ghazni, strong in itself and
strongly garrisoned. On either flank, at a distance of twelve
to fifteen miles, there were two forces of the enemy under
Ghilzi chiefs, waiting to take advantage of any check which
might occur. And, most serious of all, supplies were nearly
exhausted. Here the army was indebted for its safety, and
the General for his rewards and peerage, to the resource of
the Engineer, Capt. G. Thomson. '

He suggested two alternatives—to blow open a gate and
immediately assault, an operation the success of which must
always be doubtful and attended with heavy loss; or to mask
the fort with a small force, and advance with the rest of the
army to attack Dost Muhammad in the direction of Kabul.
The latter alternative had to be abandoned for want of sup-
plies, and the former was, as is well known, successfully
carried out.

The result of the capture was decisive. Dost Muhammad
could not persuade his army to face the British, so great was
the impression caused by the capture of Ghazni, and the road
to Kabul was clear. That city was occupied without further

. opposition, and on August 7, 1839, Shah Shuja was seated on

the throne.

The army of occupation was reduced in numbers, part of
it having been sent back to India. What remained, instead
of being concentrated in one or two important places, was
scattered in small bodies over a vast extent of country. Our
administration, thongh nominally that of Shah Shuja, was
unpopular, and disturbances arose in various directions. The
rising among the Ghilzis may be here mentioned, as James
Broadfoot accompanied the force sent under Capt. Outram to
restore order. He surveyeda great deal of the Ghilzi country,
and after the expedition was over accompanied, in disguise, &

pea—
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caravan of Lohani merchants from Ghazni to Dera Ismail
Khan by the Gomal route. His reports ® on the journeys and
tribes received high commendation from Liord Auckland; and
up to the present time (1888) they form the principal basis of
our information regarding that part of Afghanistan and its
inhabitants.

William Broadfoot was on. detachment duty at Bimidn,
Saighdn, and Bijgih, the latter being the farthest point in
the direction of the Oxus ever occupicd by our troops. He
made a road from Bamiin across many passes, including the
Palu and Dandan Shikan (¢ tooth-breaking’), which was then
intended to be a commercial route from Kabul to Khulum.

He was also at this time (1840) desived to raise a corps of
Hazarn pioneers, and succeeded in enlisting some men. Those
formed the nucleus of the corps whieh was afterwards com-
manded by Capt. George Broadfoot, and known as ¢ Broadfoot’s
Sappers.’

Dost Muhammad, after wandering as far as Bokhara and
suffering many vicissitudes of fortune, having got together
some followers, raised his standard at Khulum. He was de-
feated in an.cndeavour to penetrate towards Bamian, and
made his way into what is known as the Kohistan of Kabul.
Sir Robert Sale with a small force was sent to intercept him
if possible, and prevent his return beyond the Hindu Kush.
Sale sent on the cavalry to prevent Dost Muhammad escaping by
the Parwédn Pass, and the latter, sceing his retreat threatened,
determined, with a small body of sixty or eighty Afghans, to
cut his way through. Capt. Fraser, who commanded the two
squadrons of the 2nd Bengal Cavalry, ordered them to charge,
but the men wavered and fled in spite of the most earnest ex-
hortations of their officers. What happened cannot be known
with absolute accuracy. The officers of the cavalry, accom-
panied by Dr. Lord and James Broadfoot, but deserted hy their
men, charged the Afghans who were advancing under Dost
Muhammad. Of six officers who thus charged, three—Dr,
Lord, Lieut. J. 8. Broadfoot, and Cornet Crispin—were killed ;
and two—Captaing Fraser and Ponsonby—iwere desperately
wounded.” James Broadfoot was badly mounted; he was

8 See Supplementary Papers, R. G. * Cornet Moffat appears to have
8., vol. i, part iii. 1885. eseaped unhurt.
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seen trying to prevent the flight of the cavalry, and it was
believed for some time that he was killed by our own men.

This does not appear to have been the case, for afterwards
an Afghan, Jan Fishan Khan,! who was present, reported that
when our cavalry fled, he saw Capt. Fraser in front and
James Broadfoot on the flank., When Fraser was wounded,
he saw James cut his way through the Afghans to a great
distance, when all at once the engineer cap, by which he had
hitherto kept him in view, disappeared in the midst of a group
of Afghans, and, said Jan Fishan, ¢ having no more hope, I,
too, turned and rode away.’

This happened on November 2, 1840; next day Dost
Mubhammad rode in to Kabul with one companion and gave
himself up to the Envoy. Macnaghten returned his sword
to the Amir, and made suitable arrangements for the custody
of so brave and important a prisoner.

Yet this event did not help to tranquillise the country.

The Shah was discontented because he possessed the
shadow only of power, the substance being in the hands of
the Envoy. The English Government were dissatisfied, becanse
they thought the administration in Afghanistan not altogether
prudent ; and they presented to Lord Auckland the alterna-
tives of either maintaining our position in sufficient force and
at whatever sacrifice might be entailed, or of abandoning the
country and confessing failure.

The choice of either alternative was evaded by the Govern-
ment of India on the plea that the circumstances of the case
were altered by the surrender of Dost Muhammad.

Occupation of the country was continued with a diminished
army. The immediate result was an apparent increase in
hostility on the part of the people in more than one locality.
Such was the state of affairs when Capt. George Broadfoot
was appointed to Shah Shuja’s force; he was ordered to raise

! Jin Tighiin (‘devoted’ or ‘life-  insurrection broke out in Kabul, Jan

sacrificing’) "was the title given to
Saiyid Muhammad Khan, Chief of
Paghmin, on account of his gallantry.
His wife appears to have deserved the
title as well as Jan Fishan himself.
Lady Sale has recorded that when the

Fishan urged his wife to fly for safety
to Paghman ; but she replied: * I will.
not leave you; if you fall, we die to-
gether; if you are victorious, we will
rejoice together.” Jan Fishan seid this
answer was worth o lakh of rupees.
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a regiment of sappers, and proceeded to Delhi and towards
the N.W. Frontier for that purpose.

He was accompanied by Colin Mackenzie, to whose sister-
in-law, Mrs. Bayley, he wrote the following letter descriptive
of the journey:

Delhi: October 10, 1840.

My dear Mrs. Bayley,—I had the great pleasure of receiving your
letter of September 7, with its inclosure for Colin, just as we were
leaving Agra, and fully intended to have answered it immediately
on our arrival here, but T found it necessary the very first day, to
move into my tents at the lines of the Sappers, away both from
city and cantonments, end ever since I have been, from sunrise
till dark, literally surrounded by a mob. At length, however,
affairs are getting en frain to a certain extent, and from them to
you I turn with something of the feelings of the weary knight of
old passing from a wildermess, and seeing before him a fair garden
and the bower of some beauty without peer. Being, however, but
a modern preux chevalier, I must be allowed to commence my
addvess to the fair ladye with a scolding, most unknightly and yet
well deserved, for your letter to me is little less than an apology for
writing at all; or, as you are pleased to term it, troubling me.
Now, it is clear you take me for a downright monster, a Caliban,
and under this afllicting belief I shall continue till you tell me the
contrary under your own hand, and prove it by a letter containing
more than an apology, however prettily written.

Colin and I have not lived together here, so I do not know
whether you have found him a punctual corvespondent or not. But
he has, no doubt, told you how we left, or rather sent on, our servants
and baggage from Allyghuv, and went ourselves by Agra ; how we
were delighted with the Taj, the Moti Musjid, and all the other
beauties there; how we went round by Futtehpore Sikri, Bhurt-
pore, Deeg, and Gobardhun to Muttra; how we hunted as we
went, and how the cheetas were more sucecessful than Colin and his
friend ; how Colin lost himself in & jungle, and was hunted for with
elephants and torches; how we were objccts of great curiosity
throughout, for T had been recognised as having served three years
with the native chiefs in Afghanistan and Turkistan before our
armies went there; how I had been a prisoner in Candahar (or
some other city) and professed Islam ; how it was useless to deny
it, as I had been recognised in Futtehpore and Bhurtpore by some
who remember me a Musalman! How Colin (with indignation
he heard it) was, if not my son, a wvery young warrior setting
out under my auspices; how the English up there, being aw
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désespoir, Government were sending every one up who knew those
countries,

At Muttra we passed part of a day with Col. Pattle, and a few

hours at Allyghur with Mr. and Mrs. Neave. On arriving here we

found Mr. Metealfe had left, and I fear [we] deprived Mrs. Metcalfe
of her night’s rest by taking possession of the house after she had
retired for the night. Next day we moved ; Colin, from his nice
senge of decorum, to the house of a namesake and kinsman of the
64th Regiment; I, from necessity, to the tent from which I write.
Of the lions of Delhi, I can say nothing, having seen none of them,
nor paid & single visit, but official ones. But Colin saw them all,
and two days ago went off dawk to Loodhiana, and is doubtless
now adorning the harem of our master the Shah. e rode out to
Soneput, and had two falls, without serious injury to himself, but
with much to his horse. He was foolish enough to gallop over
unknown ground by moonlight, which, though beautiful, is ag
deceitful as other beaunties are said to be by poets. He is very much
better than when I wrote, but still far from well. It is a very

great matter for him to have escaped the journey to Goruckpore. I -

am sure it would have killed him ; even without it I was at one
time very apprehensive about him. I hope very shortly to set ont
for Loodhiana, where I shall rejoin him. '

I have begun a letter to Bayley, which I shall finish to-day or
to-morrow. In the mean time give him and all your cirele my very
best regards, and believe me, my dear Mrs. Bayley,

Most sincerely yours,
G. Broaproor.

I shall look with impatience for an answer to this.

Capt. Broadfoot succeeded in recruiting the number of
Hindustanis and Giarkhas he required, and these with the
Hararas, raised near Bamian by William Broadfoot, formed
the Shah’s regiment of sappers. At first, when offered the
command by Lord Auckland, he declined on the score of being

unwilling to supersede his own brother. His Liordship, how-

aver, took no notice of the refusal, and after some time sent
him orders about details which concerned the regiment to the
command of whick he had been appointed.

Further objection was, of course, impossible. It was also
ageertained that, prior to the arrangement here described,
Lord Auckland had decided, in ignorance of W. Broadfoot’s
claims to the command, to appoint him second in command, a
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position which he considered suitable to his subaltern rank.
His Lordship, with kind intentions, thought that it would be
more agreeable to William Broadfoot to he superseded by his
brother than by some stranger, and hence his refusal to con-
sent to CGeorge’s resignation. As a matter of fact the supor-
sossion never took place, for William Broadfoot received a
political appointment under Sir Alexander Burnes, and George
remained commander of the regiment. No men in it wore
more devoted to their leader than those raised by William in
Hazara.

The regiment is thus referred to by Marshman in the Life
of Havelock : 2

They were instructed in all the duties of entrenching and siege
operations, and were encouraged to become superior light troops.
In their ranks were not only Hindostanees of every provinee, but
Ghoorkas, and men from Cabul, Peshawar, Eusofzye, and Hazara.
Many of the men thus enlisted were desperate and intractable
characters, but they were soon moulded by the talent of their chief
into daring, skilful, and obedient soldiers. Capt. Broadfoot was on
his side like a father to these men, in attention to their real wants,
while he exacted from them the most implicit obedience to his orders,
and punished their faults with o severity which many would have
deemed ferocious.

When Capt. Broadfoot was about to start for Kabul, he
was desired to take charge of and proteet the families and
attendants of Shahs Shuja and Zaman. This was a most
complicated and undesirable addition to his cares, eonsisting
as it did of the blind Shah Zaman and of some 600 ladies of
the zenanas with numerous attendants. These, together with
a large amount of treasure and baggage, he had to- escort
through the Punjab, then in a very disturbed state, with its
troops for the most part in open mutiny. -

It is to be regretted that want of space makes it un-
advisable to print Capt. Broadfoot’s reports of this journey in
cxtenso, for they ave of great interest and testify to his sound
judgment, decision of character, and capacity for command.
The latter quality, indecd, scemed to risc exactly in pro-
portion to the difficnlties and dangers which he was called on
to face.

* Tdit, 1870, p. 87.
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The Lahore Darbar deputed three officers of position,
Sarddr Shiam Singh of Atdri, Rai Kesri Singh, and Col.
Chet Singh, to accompany the convoy and afford assistance.
They further sent an escort of picked troops from the Sikh
army ; but these, infected by the spirit of mutiny then abroad,
were a source of danger rather than of protection.

Mpr. Clerk,? the Political Agent for Punjab affairs, in the end.

of April 1841 expressed anxiety for the safety of the convoy
consequent on the disaffection prevailing at Peshawar ; he algo
thus deseribed an instance of the mischievous consequences
of the example of successful mutiny : ‘A mutiny which lately
occurred in the Sappers and Goorkhasg under Capt. Broadfoot’s
command assumed the same features which have marked the
commencement of most of the mutinies of late among the

Sikh battalions. They turned out armed and demanded two .

months’ pay. They spoke, and were inclined to eonduct them-
selves, most resolutely. But they were met with still greater
resolution by Capt. Broadfoot and their other FEuropean
officers. The ringleaders were flogged on the spot, and the
detachment fell in and returned to obedience.’

Capt. Mackeson, Political Officer at Peshawar, wrote to
Broadfoot to inform him of the mutiny there, and of the
occupation of the road by four mutinous battalions. He
added that Avitabile* had reported that they meant to at-
tack the convoy, and begged that Broadfoot would halt and
await relief unless Sham Singh would be responsible for his
safety.

Broadfoot replied that, having all along foreseen the proba-
bility of attack, he had taken precautions, and that therefore

* Now 8ir George R. Clerk, G.C.8.T.,  bile, backed by a powertful Sikh force,

K.C.B. .

4 Gen. Avitabile, an officer in
Ranjit Singh’s service, was Governor
of Peshawar and Yusufzai, His hos-
pitality to our officers who passed
through Peshawar was unbounded.
He is thus deseribed by Sir Herbert
Edwardes: * With the intrigue and
cunning of an Asiatic, the bronder
wisdom and self-dependence of a Kuro-
pean, and the remorselessness of one
who professed to own no God, Avita-

was soon master of the valley, and
to this day is spoken of by the Afghan
population with the admiration of a
troop of jackals for a tiger. To do
him justice, though he stuck at no-
thing that would serve his ends, he
did much good.’ (Life of Sir H. Law-
rence, vol.i.p. 292.) The Afghans had
the saine respect for Georga Broadfoot ;
they oalled him the *black-conted in-
fidel,’ who was st Jalalubad ns Avita-
bile was at Peshawar.

s __
U L P T PR | IRPET Sy S e SRR



CIL I CRITICAL POSITION OF THE CONVOY 15

Avitabile’s declaration supplied no reason for fresh prepara-
tion or for increased anxiety on his account.

As to Sham Singh and the other officers being responsible
for the safety of the convoy, he fairly laughed at the idea.
He pointed out that, owing to their zeal and good faith, the
chicfs had incurred grave risk from the Sikh ftroops, and
that the knowledge that he (Broadfoot) would protect them
had hitherto saved them from violence, if not from death.

He further declined to halt and waib for suceour, and said
he hoped he was not improperly confident in belicving that he
would repulse any attack the Sikhs might make. He was
aware that the utmost caution was required to avoid disaster,
but added, ‘It is, however, safer than standing still, and ag
far as any military operation is certain of successful issue
I consider this to be so; for if we do not get on quietly, and
cannot force the passage, we shall, I donbt nof, hold our
own till you send us assistance.’

He accordingly marched forward, and at last came on the
mutineers with guns commanding the road, at a placc called
Saidu, beyond Attock, on the Indus. The position was decidedly
eritical —the mutineers from Peshawar, with their guns, in
front, and his Sikh cscort, equally dangerous and ready for
plunder, in rcav. Ile met the erisis holdly—marched the
convoy and his own men across the river, and broke the
bridge before the Sikh escort could cross. Thus he insuved
freedom from attack on the rear, and could concentrate his
energies on the danger in front.

The following letters to Col. Cullen and Dr. Malcolmson
contain accounts of this interesting journey :

Camp, Peshawar : May 21, 1841,

My dear Colonel,—It has been for a long time my intention to
write to yon, but you will believe that to eonduct a large convoy,
with a very feeble escort, across the unjab at such a period, required
every moment I could spare to obtain the requisite information of
what was going on amidst the seene of confusion, in order to provide
for ourselves. I forget whether I ever replied to your letler con-
taining a most flattering notice of me by Lord Llphinstone. I
think I did ; but if not, may I beg you to express to his Lordship
my deep sense of is uniform kindness ? Indeed, the indulgent way
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I was always treated makes me often regret that I could not carry
my old masters with me into the new world L am now enteving.

I was long detained at Lioodhiana and Ferozpore by being nomi-
nated to take charge of the royal families of Cabool on their way
to their native country. There is the old blind Shah Zeman, a host
of shahzadas, and a huge number of ladies of all ranks and ages.
It was a duty I could not well decline, there being no other officer

of the Bhah’s service present, though it was easy to see it was one -

pretty sure to be troublesome and thankless. Tocomplicate matters,
the Punjab was verging towards anarchy when we started, and
daily got into greater confusion as we advanced. The mutinous
troops were moving in all directions towaxds Tahore, and occasion-
ally crossed our path. They had already murdered or expelled their
officers before starting, and were governed by punchayets 3 elected
by universal suffrage. They were suspicious of our intentions, and
from the first have been averse to our troops having a passage
through their terrifory. We were sometimes in danger of collision
with them, but by one way or other got clear through till we had
crossed the Aftock. Then four battalions in a state of mutiny and
six guns were before us, encamped so as to command the only
road we could go by. Lvery effort was made to make them move,
but in vain. They said if we proceeded at all we must go by that
road, they being under arms and standing to their guns. Letters
from the Court, orders from Gen. Avitabile, and the entreaties and
menaces of the Vakeels with me were ineffectual to get them to
go one march off the road. The report was through the country
that they intended to plunder the kafila, and Gen. Avitabile de-
clared to the Political Agent here, he could not answer for their
intentions towards us. So the Political Agent sent for a brigade of
our troops. I went to the mutinous camp, or at least to within 800
yards or 8o, and had an interview with them. The hostility of their
proceeding was poinfed out, buf in vain. At length they formally
declored the brigade, or 50,000 men, might come, they also were
soldiers and would fight. They said we might consider them enemies
or friends as we pleased; they were ready for us. We parted with
a formal declaration that, having refused to abandon their menacing
position, even for a few hours, and it being impossible for us to
advance, but by putting the kafila in their power, that they must
be looked on as enemies of the three Governments.® The chief of
the Liahore Vakeels was with me and shared in all this.

3 Panchdyat, s committee of five committee.
members, one of whom is president ¢ British India, Punjab, and Shah
and has o casting vote; afterwards  Shuja's Government.
used to designate any representative

P LR e e
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They were warned no longer to venbure near our camp, or even
to approach the hills where we were, or try to enter the passleading
to Attock. They despised us $oo much to heed the warning, and a
gang of the punchayet went to our emmnp and stayed beyond the time
allowed for them to consider. I met them among the hills and
made them prisonors. This prevented us from being in future
inundated by them. Tor two days we. thus remained with al-
most seven miles between us; they demanding the prisoners, with
menaces of attack ; and we refusing, though offering to hand them
over to the Sikh Vakeels if they would leave the road, removing some
of their guns ag an evidence of sincerity. They several times got
under arms, and once even advanced a short distance in onr di-
reetion ; but this last time their hearts failed, and they aceepted the
terms just before rejected, went back to their camp in haste, and
crossed a gun to the other side of the river; dreading, no doubt, the
approach of the brigade, and feohng they had not power even to
force our position. I released the prisoners, and the mutineers
began to loiter in crossing, so that I could not march that day;
butin thenight, moved, it is said, by a report of our brigade approach-
ing, most of them bolted across the river in great haste, and next
day we passed on, and are now safe here.

It wag necessary to be always on the look-out smong these
people, and consequently the work was heavy for officers and men.
Poor Orr, who acted as our quartermaster, has been fairly worked
into a rather severe fit of illness, but, I am glad to say, is now
nearly well again, e is an active, intelligent, and ligh-spirited
young officer. Some more of our number are ailing. The officers
ave all from Madrag, and arve very fine young men. My own health
stood well till these last few days, in fact till the work was pretty
well over, The position I was in was one of extreme dclicacy;
there was seldom time to deliberate, and scarcely a measure could
be adopted, or aword said or written, without ineurring the censnre
of onc party or anotlier. Some blame me as rash in not calling for
assistance, and in making the punchayel prisoners; and obstinate
i not surrendering them when menaced with an attack. Others
again swear there was no danger nt all, and thie Political Agent hore
seems to think he cleared away the mutineers by a civil letter, to
whieli they returned a eivil answer (L suspect Brigadier Shelton 7 ig
the recal Simon Pure). The fear of his brigade did the work.
However, hiere we are safely through the Punjab withont a shot
being fired ; a consummation few expected till it has occurred.

7 Shelton’s brigade was to march from Jalalabad to relieve the kafila, if

necessary.
: C
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In the mean time, whether I get credit or obloquy, I look back on
the whole transaction without sesing many errors in the course I -
followed. That, however, is but poor evidence of their not being
many and great.

The jowrney through the Punjab has given me a very high -
opinion of old Runjeet Singh. Here is this large army utterly
disorganised, turned into a lawless multitude, going to their homes
when they please, but generally crowding to the ecapital, The
people chiefly Mahomedans, hating the Sikhs, but recently con-
quered, with the families of their old chiefs among them, yet
afraid to rebel. Old Runjeet’s constant success, or speedy recovery
from defeat, and the vigour as well as justice of his rule, have pro-
duced an impression of the stability and resources of his Sirkar,’
something like that prevailing in our territories regarding the
Company. The end, however, is fast approaching, and next cold
weather will probably see extinguished the last vestige of Indian
independence.

Camp near Cabool: July 3, 1841.

My dear Malcolmson,—As you must be beginning, like all my
friends, to think me negligent in not writing, I send this merely to say
that I am recovering from smallpox, and am still very weak. Iwas
seized with it at Peshawur, and it first showed itself outwardly at
Jumrood or Futtehgurh, the frontier post of the Sikhs. There the
garrison seemed disposed o molest us, or rather, actually seized a
lot of property and made an attempt at a search of the Begumg’
palkees.” The excitement cured me for the moment, and I made
them disgorge by threatening to resort to force, and proceeding to
preparations. Avitabile, however, sent a soft letter to them (I had
treated them ag thieves), and thinking he and our Political Agent
Sfunked, they seized cattle next day, and even came (the Killadar,'
or ratlier two of the punchayet dragging him) to my tent with intent
t0 be insolent.

I had again to rouse up; they got frightened, and gave me
Avitabile’s letter to read, which I threw in their faces, saying no
letters could make thieves honest men, and if in ten minutes all
was not given up I should no longer treat them as soldiers. This -
impudence had the effect, for impudence it was, seeing they had a fort
with 8 guns, and 1,000 men nominally (probably 700 or 800), and I
had not 500 firelocks, and no guns; but next day, when we were
safe across the frontier, I sank so much that I did not expect to
weather the disease ; the reaction of the disputes with these fellows

¢ Government, » Palankins.
' Officer in charge of the fort.
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was almost too much for me, and I came up here in a palkee. I am
still weal;, and regain strength very slowly.

Our late journey was o very interesting one in every way., I geo
some notices of it in the papers—all lies, or at least many lies and
many errors. Sir W. Maenaghten has veported of nie in terms of
praise too strong, more than I deserve. Burnes also ig on the
same side, but I lear some newspapers are going to assailme; why,
I know not, but such is the fashion in these parts. If I can find
time, I mean to draw out a short account of the journey I intended
it for Col. Cullen, whose good opinion I desire to retain. I ean
then mention what duty requires me not even in self-defence to
mention in a newspaper (not, however, that I am going to answer
any of the threatened attacks), and this I shall send open to you
that you also may see it. 'We have with the kafila a Dr. Thomson,?
o very excellent young fellow, a chemist, botanist, and geologist,
the son of the Glasgow Professor of Chemistry, and not a degene-
rate one. William has been dangerously ill, and still is very ill; a
rush of blood tothe head. Only yesterday did he take the favourable
turn, and now the least thing would throw him back. It aroso
from exposure in riding out several marches to meet me when ill,
the snn here being very hot. Alas! this is dismal work, nursing
him in a room full of all that belonged to poor James. 1o [J.]
has left the reputation of extraordinary talent and extraordinary
bravery. It is to me quite affecting to hear the Afghans and others
speak of him. ¢The young DBroadfoot that spoke our language,’
they call him, and to compare small with great, the impression left
by lim on all classes of natives is of the same kind (though less in

2 Dy, Thomas Thomson was bhorn
on December 4, 1817. Hoe gave proof
of unusunl talent and observation in

scionee ot the carly age of seventeen.
e joined the medical service of the

mission todefine the boundary between
Kashmir and Thibet. "The other mem-
bers were BMajor Cunningham, B.E.,
and Capt, H. Strachey. Ho took cvery
opportunity of collecting information

18.1.C., arrived in Calentta in 1840, and
was appointed Curator of the Museum
of the Asiatic Socicty, He was soon
transferred to the medieal charge of a
party under orders for Afghanistan,and
accompanied the convoy underthe com-
mand of Capt. Broadfoot. In 1841 he
was appointed to the 27th N.I, and,
with the rost of the officors of that
regiment, was made prisonor by the
Afghans on the capitulation of Ghazni.

In 1845 he served with the army in
the Satlej eampaign.  Two years later
he wasappointed a memberof the eom-

about the flora and physical geography
of the varions countries he saw, and
did much work in after yoars in con-
jonetion with Sir Joseph Hooker, Tn
1854 he was appointed Superintendont
of the Botanical Grrdens in Calentta,
and professor of hotany in tho Medical
College. Mo retired in 1861, returned
to India for u short time in 1871 with
tho party sent thero to obsorve the
eclipse, and died in1878. II¢ was thoe
author of Western Himalaya and Tibet
(London, 1852).
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degree) as that left by Elphinstone, which is altogether extraordinary
even now.

Sir W, Macnaghten’s report to the Government of India
of the arrival of the convoy is as follows :

To the Secretary to the Government of India, Secret Department.

I have the honour to report, for the information of the Right
Hon. the Governor-General in Council, the safe arrival at Cabul of
his Majesty Shah Shoojah's family.

This event has been a source of much gmtlﬁcatlon to his
Majesty, and it will, T trust, have a beneficial effeet throughout the
country. To the energy, tact, and judgment displayed by Capt.
Broadfoot, who had the superintendence of the family, must mainly
be ascribed their having overcome the formidable obstacles opposed
to their progress, and their having escaped the serious dangers to
which they were exposed throughout a long and harassing march.

I introduced Capt. Broadfoot to the Shah yesterday evening,
and his Majesty was pleased to express to that officer, in the most
Hattering terms, his gratitude for the kind, judicious, and con-
siderate treatment which had been shown to the Royal Family, and
as a mark of his approbation his Majesty conferred a horse, a
sword, and a dress of honour upon Cupt. Broadfoot, which I trust,
under the very peculiar circumstances of the case, he may be per-
mitted to retain. I have &e.

‘W. H. MACNAGHTEN,
Linvoy and Minister.

Broadfoot’s conduct of the convoy, though highly approved
by Government, was attacked in certain newspapers, and in
a subsequently written history of the Sikhs is unfavourably
criticised. He ook no notice of the attacks; but, fearing lest
some paragraphs might be copied into English newspapers,
and cause pain or anxiety to his friends, he wrote the fol-
lowing lebter to Mr. Lioch, a director of the E.I.C., in which

will be found a favourable opinion as to his management

expressed by Gen., afterwards Sir Harry, Smith, as well as
some other matters of general interest :

Cabool: August 4, 1841

My friend Mr. Thomason,® the Secretary to the Agra Govern-
ment, lately sent me a note to him from Mr. Robertson, the Lieut.-

# James Thomason, of the Bengal  that distinguished body of public ser-
Civil Service, an eminent member of  vants, was appointed o writer in 1821,

;
j
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Governor, inclosing one from Gen. Smith, the Adjutant-General
of the Queen’s troops, to whom 1 am altogether unknown. The
General had just received aceounts of the early part of our journey,
and of the suppression of a mutiny of part of our little force ncar
Lahore, and lie expressed himself of me, as a soldier, in terms which,
though T could hardly fecl I deserved [them], yet I confess gratified
me exceedingly ; for, as Mr. Robertson said in writing to Thomason,
it was indeed ‘Laudari a laudato,’” Gen. Smith being reckoned
one of the first men in the Royal Army. It was he who finally put
down the Caffivs in the late war at the Cape, and, widely as opinions
dilfer as to the justicc of that war, they were unanimous among
professional men as to the ability and vigour of Gen. (then Col.)
Smith's operations.

There is much to mterest one in this country. I am still too
superficially acquainted with what is going on to have any positive
opinions, but I cannot help thinking we leave the financial pavt of
the business too much out of view,

One good effect from this oceupation of a poor country by the
Bengal Army will be, that a searching economy on @ large scale
will be forced on the Supreme Government. They will have to do
throughout the system what Col. Cullen, under so many diffi-

and held o variety of offices of the
usual description till 1840, when he
took leave to Iingland.

On his return to India in 1841 he
was appointed Secretary to the Go-
vernment N.W.P.; next year he be-
came a4 member of the Sadr (Sudder)
Board of Revenue, and in 1843 ho was
promoted to the important position of
Sceretary to the Government of Indin
in the sccvet, political, legislative,
judicial, and revenue departments.

Mr. R. N. Cust has favoured me
with the following remarks: ‘Jamey
Thomason was Secrotary to the Go-
vernment of India in the Forcign De-
partment under Lord Xllenborough,
and succceded Sir George Clerk ng
Lieut.-Governor of the N.W.P.,, and
oceupied that post ten years, when in
1853 he was appointed Governor of
Madras, but he died ot Bareilly before
he took up the appointinent.

‘ He carried out all Robert Bird’s
reforms in the Revenue Department

—softlement and collection. Under
his guidance John Lawrence, Robert
Montgomery, Donald Macleod, Jolhn
Thornton, George ¥dmonstone, and
many others learnt their lesson, and
introduced the same system into the
Punjab. Mr. Thomason started the
Ganges Canal in concert with Cautley.
He reformed and improved every de-
partment of government, and intro-
duced 2 high tone into the service.’
Lord Dalhousie’s estimate of his
value may be gathered from the follow-
ing extract from the order in which
his death was announced: ‘Conspi-
cuous ability, devotion to the public
service, and a conscientious discharge
of every duty, have marked each stop
of his honourable course; while hig
surpassingadminisirative capacity, his
extanded knowledge of aflairs, his clear
judgment, his bencvolonco of charnc.
ter and suavity of demcanour, have
adorned and exalled the high position
which he was wisely scleeted to fill)
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culties, and with such signal success, accomplished in the Madrag
Commissariat. The more I see of the service in diffeent parts of
India, the more highly do I estimate his services to the State.

Herat is occupying much attention at present in consequence of
the late news from Persia. Our error was in at first guaranteeing
its independence. During the siege our succour should have been
given on condition that, on the death of Kamran, it should revert
to Cabool as a lapsed appanage; such terms would then have been
thought liberal. It is now a great difficulty, for, as Sir J. MeNeill
justly says in one of his printed letters, ¢ the case of Herat involves
that of all Afghanistan.’

But this difficulty, and the many others arising from our advance
beyond the Indus, should be fully looked in the face, their cost
estimated, and their solution provided for. The greatest caution
should be used, precipitation would be very dangerous, but delay in
commencing is equally g0 ; the present makeshift policy is ruinous
in its expense, and leaves us at the end of the year nearly wherve
we were at the beginning, only poorer.

Major Todd has just left ; he is about to memorialise your Court,
and he has certainly a strong case. I know too little to judge
between him and the Government of Indin, but the latter seem to
me to have committed the grievous mistake of punishing an error
of judgment as they would a crime. In distant situations much
diseretion is necessarily left to the local authorities, and in eritical
circumstances the necessary self-possession and nice balance of
judgment are hardly to be looked for where the fear of ruin for
life is felt, if the opinion formed does not coincide with that of a
superior a thousand miles off. It is to be regretted, therefore, that
the Government did not transfer Major Todd, if his judgment
proved unequal to his situation, to a post where he would be more
a mere executive officer. That such precipitation should have been
suffered by so just and temperate a man as Lord Auckland, is
another proof of how essential to the welfare and good government
of India is a body such as the Court of Directors. It will be long
before India can be safely committed to a minister; a changing,
party-riven House of Commons is no check, or rather would pervert
a well-intentioned minister.

Affairs at Kabul at the end of September 1841 were in
miserable confusion. Gen. Elphinstone was in a pitiable
state of health, absolutely unfit for duty. Sir W. Macnaghten,
already appointed Governor of Bombay, was anxious to go,
but unwilling to leave whilst existing disturbances made it
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imposgible that ho could say he handed over to his successor
a pacified country. The delay about this, and the apparent
inerease rather than decrcase of disaffection, seem to have in-
duced a state of nervous irritation (by no means soothed by
orders for retrenchment from India), which was fatal to the
harmony essential to good government.

Sir Alexander Burnes was anxious for the Iinvoy's de-
parture, and thonght he would easily quell the disturbances
which had arisen, and reign in his stead.

The following description of the efforts made by Broadfoot
to obtain some strietly necessary information and instrnctions,
respecting an expedition on which he had been ordered, affords
a sad picture of irritable incapacity and feebleness :

On October 7, 1841, T received a note from Brigadier Anquetil,
desiring me to prepare for immediate field service 100 sappers, and
directing me, as there were no other officers available, to proceed in
command. (Orrand Cunningham, with about 250 men, were absent
on serviee in Zoormut, west? of Ghuznee, the other officer was
sick.) T rode into cantonments to obtain detailed orders, and was
told that Tezeen was onr destination, to punish the Ghilzi chiefs,
who had stopped the daks, and that I should have to destroy the
forts. I was directed to receive further orders from Tieus.-Col.
Monteath, who was to command the expedition. T passed the
night at Burnes’s, sitting up till near daylight in diseussions that,
as matters have tnrmed oub, were very curious, for he and I differed
widely in our views, and he was just then mueh shaken as to hig
own opinions, though he seems to have relapsed.

I had sent to the artificers (armourers and smiths, numerous in
Cabool) in the city to make some mining tools not in the magasine.
(All ours gone to Zoormut—rno others), aud the armourers refused
to work for the ¢ Ileringees.” IBurnes sent an order without any
effect, and T took down a party of our men, gave each smith hig
worl with men to keep him at it, and next day got the tools, the
best they had ever done for us in the city. They were busy forging
arms, for what purpose we have since learned ; Burnes said, for the
wandering tribes about to migrate.

Next morning, the 8th, I waited on Lieut.-Col. Monteath, whom
I did not before know. He said he could give me no orders, having
received nome himself, except to move towards Jelalabad ; that lie
did not even know I was to go, but should be glad of my company.

1 Probubly a mistake for east.
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He declined to apply for information, saying he knew these people
too well,® admitted all the dangers of going on service in the dark,
but said it was not the custom here to consult, or even to insiruct,
the commanders of expeditions. He spoke bitterly of sending
officers and troops on wild-goose chases, bringing them into serapes
and letting them get out if they could, for the Envoy’s eredit, but if
his politicals failed, to their own diseredit. He again refused to
refer for instructions, saying he had too much experience of these
people, but permitted me to go to the General, the Envoy, or any-
one I pleased. I went to the magazine to learn what preparations
the Commissary of Ordnance was making., I found he was making
none, or rather that none had been ordered, though he had been in
hourly expectation of orders. He (Lieut. Eyre®) and I put in train
the preparation of all he could furnish, in case I wanted things, and
I sent men to the city and cantonment bazaars to procure what the
magazine did not afford.

Eyre and I went over to see if Major Thain (Gen. Ilphin-
stone’s aide-de-camp) knew anything of the proposed service, bust he
was not at home, so I sent up my name to the General, who was
very ill. He received me, however, with his usual cheerful kind-
ness ; insisted on getting up, and was supported to his visiting room.
This exertion so exhausted him, that it was half an hour before he
could attend to business, indeed several ineffectual efforts to do so
had excited him so much that I was sorry I had come at all.
He knew, no more than Col. Monteath, the nature of the ser-
vice, having merely received an order to send him and so many
men. He did not know the number or strength of the forts, nor
whether anyone fo act as engineer was going, and said he would
leave the provision of tools and stores to me; and he did not know
whether sending Col. Monteath was a measure of precaution or
of hostility.

I pointed out that I could not prepare for a service the very
nature of which I knew not; and as to taking, as he suggested, enough
to meet any possible emergency, that, in such a country of moun-
tains, rivers, and innumerable forts, would require so much carriage
as to delay the expedition greatly to collect it, all public carriage
being sent to Zoormut; while it would, from the enormous rates of
hire given by our Commissariat, enfail on Government a greab
expense, of which part, perhaps nearly all, would be useless.

He admitted all this fully, but seid he could give me no orders,
and expressed himself unwilling to refer to the Envoy on a point
which ought to have been left to him to arrange. At last he gave

% The Envoy and his staff. ¢ Afterwards Sir Vincent Eyre.
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me a private note to the invoy, begging him to listen to me, and
saying he considered what I wanted was reasonable; viz. to know
whether there were to be hostilities or not, with whom, and the
strength and position of the enemy; and especially whether forts
were to be taken and destroyed.

The Envoy scemed to be annoyed, said the General expected
him 6o turn prophet ; how could he predict whether there would
be hostilities or not? and, finally, he desired me to state all my
wants to the General, and promised to sanction whatever the latter
proposed.

I mentioned the necessity of knowing something about the forts,
and lie said he would send to the Wazeer and leari.

He gave me a note to the Gencral, which the latter read to me.
The Envoy used the phrase of being asked to turn prophet, and
said he could not say whether there would be hostilities at all,
thongh he thought a force should perhaps still go, but not so soon
aslately ordered ; not, indeed, till the Zoormut force returned ; but
in the mean time we ave to be ready.

The General was much hurt and agitated on reading this note,
and complained bitterly of the way he was deprived of all authority
and reduced to a mere cipher. e was so evidently too weak and
excitable for business that I changed the subject, and soon after
would have taken my leave, but after leaving him was recalled, the
business having returned to his recollection. He said, as I had
been thrown on his hands, he wonld not shirk the job.

He made me go over again my reasons for declining to estimate
for tools and stores in ignorance of the nature and extent of the
work to be done. IHe took them down in writing, saying he could
not otherwise remember them ; they were those above mentioned,
only T added that, if T did not estimate to meet all possible exigen-
cies, any failure would be charged, without further inquiry, to my
ineapacity, or to the inefficiency of the corps, not to mention the
public injury or dishonour from a failure a little forethought
might hiave obviated. He said I must not be made to decide in
ignorance, and neither was it fair he should, but he recoiled from
again applying to the Envoy.

After much discussion, he agked me to go to Siv W, Macnaghten.
The latter was peevish, and spoke of Gen. Flphinstone's being
fidgety. I saldI was in this easc to blame, having declined to be
respousible without requisite orders.  This led to a long discus-
sion, and he seemed to see the reasonableness of what was said;
he mentioned again the Wazcor, and asked me o come back and
hear the reply. He said there was no one who had the ve-
quired information but Capt. Macgregor, the Politicul Agent, who
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knew all these parts intimately, and that till his return nothing
could be done. .

I stayed with the General until it was time to return to the
Envoy. On going back, I found him apparently irritated at some-
thing. Xe gave me the Wazeer's information, which was that a
force ought to be sent to Tezeen, but that the rebels were about to
quit. As to their forts, they were very weak.

I said information so vague was useless. The HEnvoy called
in the Wazeer's man and some other Afghans, and told me to
examine them myself. They said they knew only the fort near the
road at Tezeen, which I had seen myself from the road ; another at
Tezeen, on the hill, they could not describe ; they said the enemy
had other forts, some very strong, across the river; on which the
Linvoy said we were not to go there. The men then said there were
other forts on this side, but the number, situation, and strength,
they knew not ; only they were all weak, and there was no occasion
for us to fear.

The Iinvoy interrupted me impatiently, saying there would be
no fighting; that he had resolved on sending Col. Monteath fo
Bootlkhalt as a demonstration,” and that immediately—to-morrow
morning ; that he expected the submission of the rebels that evening.
If it came, Col. Monteath would go on to Jelalabad; if it did
not come to-day, his march to Bootkhak would so terrify them that
1t would be sure to arrive to-morrow. The Colonel was only to
have his own regiment, two guns, a squadron of cavalry, and 100
sappers.

I asked what was to be done if the submission did not arrive.
Was Col. Monteath to return ?

He said, ‘*No; in that case he will halt at Bootkhak till the
Zoormut force comes in: it will be a demonstration ; that will be
sure to terrify the Ghilzi chiefs.” IHe asked me if I did not think
this plan would answer.

I, of course, stated the obvious objections to it as a military
measure—that any alarm produced by the march to Bootlkhak
(ten miles) would be turned into confidence by finding we went no
farther, which would be ascribed to fear ; and that, if Monteath was
to wait for the Zoormut force, he had better remain in cantonments
than move to the skirts of the plain, near all the passages into the
hills, a situation which invited attack, for the enemy could arrive
unseen, and Col. Monteath was too weak to pursue, even if able
to beat them. All this would strengthen the cause of the rebels.
Our course was to prepare diligently, and when the troops could be

! A military operation in great favour with political officers.
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spared, to move in full force, and never to stop for a moment till the
enemy were utterly destroyed,

These reasons I gave to the Invoy late in the day, but now he
interrupted me on my saying they might be lempted to attack
Monteath. He became angry, said these were his orders, and the
enemy were contemptible, the Tastern Ghilzis the most cowardly
of Afghans (a foolish notion he and Burnes had); that as for me
and my gappers, twenty men with pickaxes were enough; it was a
poaceable march to Jelalabad, and all that we were wanted for was
to pick stones from under the gun-wheels.

I asked if these were his orders; he said no, only the opinion
given at the General’s request and mine, that the General was
responsible, and mnst decide on what sappers and tools must go.

Soon after I rejoined the Cteneral he received a note, ordering
Lieut.-Col. Monteatl’s immediate marel:, and containing almost the
above words as to the sappers and the enemy, but declining all
responsibility.

The General was lost and perplexed, though he entirely agreod
in the objections as to the move, yet he did not feel himself at liberty
to prevent it, He asked me to follow my own judgment as to
reducing the number of sappers, and what quantity of tools I wonld
take, but made me give my reasons, which he took down in the
form of a memorandum addressed to himself. The Adjutant-
General, Capt. G- , came in, and to him the General referred.
This officer, after abusing tlie Envay, spoke to the General with an
Imperiousness and disrespect, and tome, a stranger, with an insolence
it was painful to see the offects of on the General, who yet tried
only to soothe him. e advised the General not to have anything
to say to Macnaghten, to me, or to the sappers, saying Montcath
had men cnough, and needed neither sappers nor tools. At last he
took a newspaper, went to & window, and would no longer speak to
the General on the subject, saying, ¢ You know best.” This man, I
have since heard, was the poor General's evil genius during tho
subsequent troubles. The General’s health threw all business info
Capt. G——"g hands; he fancied him Indispensable, and in hisg
feeble state of hLealth could not contend against his insolent
blustering. G—— despaired from the first, and kept the poor
General in a state of continual and fatal irritation.

The Gemneral at length vesolved to adhere to his own opinion,
and made me go back to Macnaghten to tell him of it with the
reasons, and so gave him the opportunity of conntermanding it.
The Envoy would hear no reasons, saying he had given his opinion,
and the General was responsible; but he approved of the CGrenerval’s
having told me not to join Monteath &ill the Zoormut force came,
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unless hostilities broke out, as I had muech to do organising the
corps, and was pitched in sight of Bootlkhal.

He resumed the subject of my objections to his demonstration
plan, hearing them, though impatiently, as well as what I had to
say of the Jastern Ghilzis, He lost his temper, however, in answer-
ing them, and said if I thought Col. Monteath’s movement likely
to bring on an attack, I need not go, I was not wanted ; if I were,
there were others. I rose at once, and, saying a word or two as to
what had brought me there, declined to listen to such language (he
denied all intention to offend), and made my low bow. He seemed
very angry, though half sorry, but said nothing. As I was mount-
ing my horse, however, he came out, and held out his hand in
evident kindness, though still ruffled ; and so we parted, never
again to meet.

I went back to the General, and found him in bed and quite
worn out. He made me stay some time, however, and told me
once more how he had been tormented by Maenaghten from the
first ; reduced, to use his own words, from a General to the Lord
Lieutenant's head constable. He asked me to see him before I
moved, but he said, ¢ If anything occur, and in case you have to go
out, for God's sake clear the passes quickly, that I may get away.
For, if anything were to twrn up’ (he alluded once again to the
Candahar and Herat quarter), ¢ I am unfit for it, done up body and
mind, and I have told Lord Auckland so.” This he repeated two or
three times, adding that he doubted very much if ever he would see
home, even if he did get away.

Nothing can be more unlike Macnaghten’s general demeanour
than what is above deseribed, and it altogether astonished me. e
was always cowrteous to everyons, and, to me, kind in the extreme,.

Burnes, whom I saw for the last time after leaving the General,
however, told me he had occasionally seen the Envoy behave in the
same manner, and that he was really a passionate man. From
what Mackenzie has told me, I infer that during the last few days of
Liis life he must have been in much the same temper. When the
Ghilzi insurrection broke out, he had heard of his appointment as
Governor of Bombay, and was on the eve of setting out. He and
Burnes were on anything but cordial terms, and he could not suffer
the idea of his leaving the country disturbed for Burnes to have the
merit of pacifying it. Both he and Burnes treated the insurrection
with contempt (Burnes called it, to me, & tempest in a teapot), and
the rebels, absurdly enough, as less formidable than any other
Afghans. Burnes had loudly exclaimed againsi the policy which
caused the insurrection, though not till the insurrection ocecurred.
He was not, however, even consulted, before 1it, nor even after,
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by Macnaghten and his party, as he was thought to bo pleased
ab it.

I was very intimate with Burnes, and believed to hold his
opinions ; an error, however. (I thought both Burnes and Mac-
naghten grievously wrong, and in the same way, though Burnes
would have managed the bad system better than Macnaghton.) And
my seeming fo overrate the untoward events, and even predict their
increase from the measures talken, was naturally irritating to a man
already provoked.

Broadfoot’s memorandum to the General on the subject
of the tools and stores is an excellent one, showing foresight
and caution, bub it need not be reproduced. He learnt to his
astonishment that, though the bulk of the troops were sent
every winter to Jalalabad, where they were virtually cut off
from communication with Kabul by the snow, yet therc was
no magazine either at Gandamak or Jalalabad. When he
pointed out the necessity, Macnaghten remarked that he spoke
ag if he were in an enemy’s country !

As it was, when the troops moved out under Col. Monteath,
a severe reprimand was sent after Broadfoot for taking so
many tools, although he had obtained the General’s sanction.
This reprimand was crossed on the road by a demand for still
more, the necessity for them and the wisdom of Broadfoot’s
arrangements having been foreibly demonstrated. The re-
primand was cancelled in a very handsome way, and Broadf{oof;
was allowed carte blanche. He made large demands, which
could only be partially complied with ; but the tools and stoves
were mainly instrumental in saving Sale’s force in Jalalabad,
and even the regular sappers of Pollock’s relieving army had
to indent on Broadfoot for tools.

He remaxked, when considering the matter some time alier-
wards : ¢ When at length the Cabool insarrection broke out,
it seemed as if Providence had stiffened my neck on that
occasion ; for Burnes strongly advised me not to take the tools
or I would make cnemies; and he held the enemy in con-
tempt. He thought mc on that oceasion, and on one or two
others, a sort of professional pedant.’
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CHAPTER II
1841.

Night attack at ButkhAk—TLetter to Mr. Prinsep—First fight, Sappers engaged
—~Secarcity of officers with N.I. regiments—=Service with Sale’s brigade —
Khurd Eabul pass—Advance to Tezin—Attack between Jagdalak and Sur-
khab—Distinguished conduct of Broadfoot, I. Cunningham, Wyndham,
Coombs, and Sergeant-Major Kelly—Broadfoot’s opinion of officers with the
force—Outbreak at Kabul—Death of Sir A. Burnes and W. Broadfoot— Of
Sir W. Macnaghten—ULetter to Dr. Malcolmson—Arrival of Sale’s brigade
at Julalabad.

Trz expedition, referred to towards the end of last chapter,
which was designed to overawe the Ghilzis, marched from
Kabul to Butkhak on October 9, 1841, It consisted of the
85th N.I., a squadron of the 5th Cavalry, two guns under Lieut:
Michael Dawes, and a company of sappers under Capt. Broad-
foot, with Col. Monteath in command. '
In the following letter from Broadfoot to My. Henry Thoby
Prinsep a detailed account of the night attack by the Ghilzis
will be found. The demonstration was a failure, and Sir Robert
Sale with the 18th L.L joined Monteath on October 11 with
orders fo clear the passes.
It should perhaps be explained that Butkhak is the camping
ground one march from Kabul in the direction of Jalalabad ;
It is mentioned by Burnes' as the place where Mahmud of
Ghazni buried the rich Hindu idol from Somnath.

Jelalabad : January 2, 1842,

My dear Mr. Prinsep,—In yesterday’s letter we reached Bootkhak
on the afternoon of October 9. On being ordered to remain, I sent
back to Cabool the two Wazeer's men, and a small party (twelve) of
my own men, who had escorted stores &e. Of the twelve, one was
a prisoner, and handcuffed, and one was an unarmed orderly. The
remaining daylight passedin preparing the men’s arms for use, and
in examining narrowly our position, and even pacing the distance

' Trgvels into Bolkhara dc. p. 130.
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to cover for enemics ; for the ground was so unfavourable to us that
it secmed as though chosen by an enemy. At dusk, word was
brought that our returning party was attacked, and with some hesi-
tation leave was given me fo take the company out to theiraid. After
0 march, or run, of two or three miles, we arrived justin time to save
our party, who after a gallant resistance were about to disperse, being
gurrounded and redueed to five cartridges among them all, We
pursued the enemy about a mile, to recover the body of one of our
men who had been killed, and brought it in. T'his was the opening
affair of the present war, and gave a good earnest of what I might
expect from the men of the corps, and nobly have they justified my
hopes, and rewarded all trouble I have taken : for, though forgotten,
Isee, in the General’s despatches, they have literally borne the brunt
of every action of importance, being first in every assault, and last
in the rotreat, and standing firm when all others present (none ex-
cepted, uropeans or natives) shrank fron: the fight. Their not being
noticed is, I believe, accident. The General was in his dooly, others
commanding did not chanee to be where the fight was liot, and I was
afterwards too much occupied (even if inclined) to bring my own
doings to the notice of those who ought to have seen them. But as
it has gone even the length of ascribing to others (by implication at
least) what the Sappers did, I shall perhaps occasionally enter into
more detail than I should otherwise have done, and mention a few
things I should not othierwise have alluded to.

Soon after onr return to Bootkhak, the outposts sent notico of
sounds from the hillg as if they were oceupied. I again went partly
up one and obscrved the direction &e. of the objects noted by day-
light. The Afghans with me thought they heard people above us,
and foretold an attack before morning; but all was so silent that T
returned, and was just entering my tent, whon the crash of musketry
from the front, and both flanks, turned us all out, and set every
sentry and guard round the camp firing. Our eamp was on a level
spot, with rocky hills along the front ; on the left separated only by
the road to Cabool, and on the left and rear a deep and wide water-
course. These our gmall force could not occupy while they gave
cover to the enemy np to our sentries; especially the left, and there
were placed the Bappers, with a large magazine containing twenty
barrels of powder. In the ravine, however, on the left, was a
picket of the 85th, and Col. Monteath immedialely sent a company
to support it, but this was thrown into confusion by meeting the
picket just running inin disorder pursued by the enemy, and the very
young officer (Norton) with them could not rally them.

Another company was sent to their support uuder auother officer,
a little senior; bub matters did nob mend, and at length they wore
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driven in on the cattle and magazine of the sappers. These last I
had taken a little to the front of the line, and made to lie down
without firing behind a slight swell, which sheltered them from the
shot which fell thick on our regular place. On learning a fire was
going on among our powder barrels, I went and removed the dis-
orderly troops, and with the consent of the two officers (both of
whom I had commanded as cadets when orderly officer at Addis-
combe) took charge of their men, and rallying them behind the

“sappers, who were all this time steady as veterans, never firing a shot,

at length restored order and made the enemy draw off a little. In
the mean time the front and flanks were enveloped in fire, and Col.
Monteath was making excellent dispositions, so good that, notwith-
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Caxr, Boorrmak., OctonEr 9 anp 10, 1841.

1. 35th N.I.. Col. Montenth.
2. Squad, 5th Cav., Capt, Oldficld,
3. 2 guns, Lieut. Dawes.

4. Shah's Suppers, Capt. Broadfoot,
5. Sapper Moguzine.
8 and 7. Camp.

standing our vicious position, the enemy was fairly baffled, and,
after four hours of incessant firing, gradually withdrew without
penetrating our camp. Col. Monteath in this affair showed himself
a good soldier, and the bad position was not, I believe, his fanlt. " He
was sent out expecting to move quickly on to Tezeen, and finding
his camp misplaced did not think it worth altering. The loss fell
chiefly on the 35th, and mainly on the two companies thrown into
disorder. The enemy, too, suffered, for we found blood in the wells
and heard the wounded call out to be carried away ; but they would -
have suffered still more heavily but for the premature fire of the
two companies on the left and some others of the 85th which drove
them back to their cover when advancing to rush in on the place
where the sappers lay. I had fixed bayonets, and only waited for
them to round a bank of about four feet which would impede their
flight, to make the sappers rise up and give them a volley, and charge.
They were within forty yards (46 paces) of the sappers; we had
wheeled up (erawling) to face them ; once down the bank, nothing
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could have saved them, for they were doubtful of our being there
{we heard their conversation) {rom our not being betrayed by white
belts, and standing up like the rest.

The main body of the 35th were very steady. Tt is a fine regi-
ment, but greatly injured for want of officers, and especially of old
officers. The natives are peculiarly unmanageable by griffing; other-
wise, one of the young oflicers (Norton) would have rallied his men,
for lie i3 a fine promising yonng soldier, but it was his first action,
and the eirecumstances trying to an old officer, All Col. Mon-
toath's old officers present were employed in important places, and
could not be spared. The accident of my being there saved our camp
being entered, ov disaster would have followed, partial if not total,
Some method must be devised to remedy the scarcity of officers, and
T am not sure that the financial difiiculty is a veal one; for the effi-
ciency of the native army would be so increased that fewer Furo-
pean regiments would do, and fewer native troops would be required,
as they could do more work: there would also be less for any troops
to do, the turbulent lacking the encouragement to fight which arises
from partial suceess.

The enemy were disconraged by their failure, but this good result
was diminished by their getting the bedding &e. of the picket and
atew eamels on the skirts of the camp, for so closely did they pursue.
Had their failure heen complete, who kuows what it might have
prevented ?

Here also I first had proof of the value of our own Afghan troops,
when raised as mine ave, i.c. subject to as rigorous diseipline as the
rest, and with no man of influence among them, but the promotions
made for personal merit by the commander. The gradual introdue-
tion of diseipline is an error. These men are a bolder vace than the
Indians, more Tuvopean and like Turopeans, and renuive a sterner
discipline. Their commander must be feared, though he must also
know and manage their prejudices, and provide for their wants, I
found the same with the Burmese. On October 10, Col. Monteath
objected to my retuwrning to Cabool till the service was over, thatis
for a weak; and on the 11th Gen, Sale with other troops arrived,
and I wasjoined by Colin [Mackenzie) ; but what followed must waib
till to-morrow.

On Qctober 12, 1841, the force under Sale marched towards
Khurd Kabul through the pass. Lvery step of the way was
dispnted.  The enemy held the heights, fired on our troops ag
they advaneed, and refired whenever atbacked. Karly in the
day Sale was wounded, and the command devolved on

D
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Col. Dennie. The sappers were actively employed, some under
Capt. Broadfoot reconnoitring ; others under Colin Mackenzie,
who had accompanied the 18th in order to be present. $

Mackenzie led the men well, and had the good fortune to
come up in time to help Michael Dawes when he and his
guns were in considerable danger. Broadfoot, in deseribing the
action, pointed out that chance threw on the sappers under
Mackenzie, and on Dawes, the task of forcing the pass. He
added : ¢ Mackenzie commanded in a way few officers could
have done; the success was rapid and complete, and the day
was gained. Unquestionably great credit was due to him.
Dawes showed the coolness he ever showed.” Mackenzie, re-
marking on this, said, ‘He was the only man, except Broadfoot,
whom he ever saw wear a natural smile in battle.’

The 13th returned to Butkhak, and Monteath and hig force
encamped at Khurd Kabul in the valley outside the pass. Our
loss was six killed and thirty-five wounded. Negotiation was
tried, and Capt. Macgregor was sent to Monteath’s camp as
Political Officer to make the desired arrangements. The result
was unsatisfactory ; anight attack was repulsed, but the little
force lost eighty camels.

Meanwhile Sale was reinforced from Kabul; and having
joined Monteath on the 20th, orders to advance on Tezin on
October 22 were issued.

The force here detailed marched on that morning, the
wounded General being carried in a litter: '

. H.M. 13th L.I,, Col. Dennie, C.B. Shah’s Sappers, Capt. G. Broadfoot.
35th N.1., Col. Monteath, C.B. »  Mountain train, Capt. Back-
37th N.1., Major Griffiths. house.

Squadron 5th B.C., Capt. Oldfield. Troop 2nd Cavalry, Lieut. Mayne.
Artillery, Capt. A. Abbott. 200 Jezailchis, Jan Fishan Khan.

The march wasnot well managed ; Lieut. King of the 13th was
killed, and his men, having been led too far in advance, had
to retire, a movement which soon degenerated into flight, with
the Afghans in pursnit. Eventually the force reached Tezin -
and there in the fort, most providentially, forage for the cattle
sufficient for two days was found. It is difficult to believe,
but it is true, that this force with from 8,000 to 4,000 cattle
was sent forward into a country where forage was scarcely to
be found, without any arrangement for its supply.
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Tt was intended next day to assault and take the varions
forts in the neighbourhood ; Col. Dennie with half the force
was to command, with Broadfoot as engineer. Bub instead
of this, negotiation with the chiefs was commenced by Capt.
Macgregor, There is some obseurity as to why the -change
was made; Durand, generally well informed, has said that the
chief, not relishing the prospect of a fight,* ¢ determined to
open negotiations and again to overreach Macgregor ;’ Back-
house thought it was plain, and to none more so than to Maec-
gregor, that the disinclination to fight was rather on the part
of some of our troops. Mur. Cameron, legal member of Council,
collected and sifted the evidence on this point.* He concluded
that Macgregor at that fime became awarc of the serious and
widespread nature of the conspiracy, and thonght it belter to
negotiate than to attack the fort. Great courage in going
unprotected to meet the (hilzis was shown by him; terms
were discussed, and agents were sent to remain with Macgregor.

Subsequent events made it amply clear that the chiefs had
no intention whatever of keeping faith; they instigated their
followers to attack our troops, the agents or hostages being
simply spies. Colin Mackenzie when a prisoner made the
acquaintance of one of these agents, who openly boasted of
cireumventing the British on that oceasion. An agreement
was made, and forage wag supplied ; Sale, however, appeared
not to valne the compact highly, for he wrote in orders: < Though
the enemy have given hostages, it would be both imprudent
and unsafe in us to relax our vigilance,” &e.?

A discussion took place subsequently ab a eritical moment
as to whether or not hostages on this occasion had been given:
Broadfoot asserted that they had been given and were of no
value, Macgregor denicd that we had taken hostages.”

On October 26, Sale sent back the 87th N.I., three com-
panies of Broadfoot’s Sappers, and half of the mountain train,
to Kabar Jabar, between Tezin and Khurd Kabul, to await the
arrival of aregiment expected from Kabul. Hig object was to
take their carringe for the use of the rest of his brigade; a
proceeding not easy to justify when the conntry was in so dis-

z Jirst Afghan War, pp. 336, 337. ' Sale's Brigade, p. 96.
* Notes from Mr, Cameron’s minute s Compate p. 75.
on the Afghan disaster.
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turbed a state. He marched that day to Seh Baba,’ and next
day to Kata Sang: the rear guard on both days having been
pretty constantly engaged. On October 29 they marched to
Jagdalak,” esecaping an ambush laid for them in the Pari
darra, or Fairy’'s Glen, by avoiding that route and marching
by the high land.

On October 29 the brigade marched from Jagdalak to
Surkhdb. In expectation of trouble the rear guard was
strengthened : it consisted of two companies of the 18th L.I.,
two companies of the 35th N.I., Lieut. Dawes and two guns,
the mountain train, and a company of sappers. It was
nominally under the command of an officer of the 13th, but
was virtually commanded by Backhouse. The sappers being
the last of the rear guard were first engaged: they were, in-
deed, in action before they had quitted the camping ground
at Jagdalak.

The first three miles of the road are up a steep incline,
difficnlt for guns and laden camels, commanded by the heights
on either side till the top is reached; after that the pass be-
- comes more open with a descent to Surkhab.

The plan adopted for protecting the march through was
that the advance and main body should detach parties right
and left to ascend to suitable posts, hold them till the baggage
passed, and then come on with it. An excellent arrangement
provided the main body halted at the top of the pass to give
the baggage and these protecting parties time to join. Un-
fortunately this was not done ; the main body moved off, ‘ leav-
ing the posts referred to and the rear guard to withstand the
pressure of the whole strength of the enemy now concentra-
ting at the exit of the pass.” The parties sent to protect the
baggage, seeing themselves abandoned by the main body, with
one honourable exception, quitted their posts, and the whole
force of the enemy came down on the rear guard, which fell
into the greatest confusion and panic. The exception here
mentioned was a party of Broadfoot’s Sappers commanded by
Licut. F'. Cunningham,® ¢ who stuck to his duty and obeyed his
orders.’

¢ Baba Isa’s tomb. used to be written, Jugdulluk.
7 The accent is on the second syl- ?# Francis Chantry Cunningham,
lable, and all the vowels are short; it the youngest son of Allan Cunning-
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The panic-siricken companies of the 13th and 85th hurried
forward in confusion to get out of the pass. The Ghilzis,
occupying the cover on either side, fired into the mass of fugi-
tives, and the villagers pressed up the pass after them knife in
hand.

At this juncture and amid this confusion ¢most fortu-
nately a few intvepid British were found to face the enciny,
headed by Capt. Broadfoot : these were Capt. Wyndhant and
Lieut. Coombs of the 85th, Lieut. Cunningham and Sergeant-
Major Kelly of the Sappers, with five or six sepoys of the
Sapper corps who had remained with Broadfoot and Cunning-
ham as orderlics (the Sapper company had been again sent up
the hills fo skirmish) ; these ten or twelve charged the Ooloos,
or villagers above referred to,” and held them in check until
they reached fhe exit of the pass. Poor Wyndham, who
was so lame as to require support from two sepoys of his
company, could not retive with the others, and fell into the
hands of the merciless mob; both the sepoys, to their infinite
honour, stuck to him to the last and shared his fate. ¢ During
this scene of terror all who fell wounded were of course aban
doned ; the enemy as they came up falling upou them in heaps,
and, as Capt. Broadfoot deseribes if, ¢ like hounds on a fox.”’

Our men were rallicd ¢ by the dispositions made ab the out-
let by Captains Backhouse and Fenwick, and covered by the
bold front ever maintained by Capt. Broadfoot.”® Reinforce-
ments were sent back from the main body, and the rear guard
arrived at Surkhab just aboub dark. Next day, October 80,
CGandamalk ' wag reached without molestation.

Liam the poet, was horn in 1820, and
cantered the Madras Avimyin 1838, He
served with distinetion in Brondfoot's
Sappers, as quartermaster, in Afghan-
istan during the years 1840-42; nnd
received medals for Jalalabad and
Kubul, He was afterwards appointed
to the Mysorc Commission by Lord
Ellenborough, and retired on December
31, 1861, on account of bad health.
Trom this time till he diedin December
1875 he wrote a good denl, and was &
{requont contributor to the Salurday
Licvicw. He had two brothers in the

Bengal Engineers: Jogeph Davy Cun-
ningham, for some years an Assistant
to the Governor-General’s Agent for
the N.W. Ironfier, and author of a
History of the Sikhs; and Sir
Alexander Cunningham, K.C.LE,, still
living, who was for many years head
of the Arclhuwological Survey of India.

? Letler to the IMviend of India
tfrom the pen of onc who was on the
spot:’ the previous quolations are
mainly from Backhouse’s dinry.

! Gundamak : weeent on Lhe second
syllable, and all the vowels short,
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Some interesting remarks by Broadfoot will be found in
the following letter to Dr. Malcolmson :

Sale’s Cemp, Gundumuk: November 4, 1841.

. . . I'would fain give you a history of the last month, but must
defer it. Suffice it to say we have had military operations far more-
serious than was expected ; instructive professionally by showing
that against even Afghans no rules of military science can be neg-
lected with impunity, and interesting to those much employed from
the difficulty of the country and the boldness of the enemy.

On ten days we were more or less engaged with the enemy, and
in four of the more considerable affairs I had no reason to find fault
with the share allotted to me. In fact we have been at the post of
danger always. In a fifth I had it all to myself, having had an ex-
cursion of about three hours, during which we recaptured 300 camels
and demolished a good many of the enemy. One day, a hot one, I
had Colin Mackenzie with me, and a famous second he is: another
time Willlam was with me, also stout in fight.

Now I suppose you think I am loaded with honours. Nothing
farther from the case. I have never been mentioned in orders till
the very last occasion, and then in a way subordinate to others who
had not my luck. Colin Mackenzie was furious, and there has been
& great uproar on the subject, caused by an artillery officer at a big
dinner here (I wasnot present) attacking poor Col. Dennie about the
maftter.

The truth is, Gen. Sale was wounded in the second action; he
was not at the first or third, and goes in a dooly : he is entirely un-
acquainted with what happens at the chief fighting places. One
occasion of our doing something arose from a blunder of Dennie’s,
another from the misconduct of the troops. No one likes to report
such things, and the General, who treats me most kindly, and I am
sure considers me a tolerable soldier, continually mentions to me
things as done by others which they did not do, and I do not un-
deceive him, as it would seem boasting, and might lead others, who
left their posts, into trouble. But all will come right : this country
will give more work, and I cannot but perceive a feeling to have
arigsen that I may be turned to use,.

Broadfoot then proceeded to remark on the qualifications

- of the officers with whom he was associated. He considered

—and the opinions of the ablest of his companions were, for
the most part, the same as his own—that Col. Dennie was
wholly unqualified for command. Among the senior officers
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he reckoned Sale and Monteath to be the best soldiers. He
then said :

We must then come low for good officers, and first comes Capt.
Havelock of H.M.’s 18th Regiment. It is the fashion, especially in
his own corps, to sneer at him ; his manners are cold, while his re-
ligious opinions (Baptist) seelude him from society ; but the wholo
of them together would not compensate for his loss. DBrave to ad-
miration, imperturbably cool, looking at his profession as a scicnee,
and, as far as I can see or judge, correct in his views.

All our artillery officers are above the average : two, Baclkhouse
and Dawes, greatly so; Backhouse a hero, though a mad one. Capt.
Abbott a superior officer too. Then we had Capt. Paton, Quarter-
master-General, o very brave and sensible man, now gone to Cabool.
The rest are all below tliose named.

Among the young hands are many fine, gallant, and intelligent
lads ; none surpassing, only one (Coombs) equalling, my two Mulls,?
Orr and Cunningham. The former was wounded severely in his first
action, but is doing well.

And now do not wonder if the papers teem with stories, true or
false, on these matters, and if my name be taken in vain, for we had
an awlkward business for a short time in the last considerable affair,
and a handful of sappers saved several lmndved infantry, chiefly
Turopean, from being destroyed by Afshans! T would have hushed
the matter up, but it was impossible, and all arc talking of, and lying
muelr about, what really ocenrred.

I ordered a charge of bayonets, and on getting among the enemy
—whom, however, wo for the moment dispersed—found myself {ol-
lowed only by twoofficers, Cunningham (Sappers), and Coornbs (35th),
wounded, also Wyndham, a poor lame Gilehrist ehum of mine, since
killed, our sergeant-major, and five Afghans of the Sappers, of whom
one fell. The rest of the Sappers were engaged on the hill abovo, and
of the infantry, Furopean and native, only a part charged, and they
stopped short before getting halfway, fearing to close with our eue-
mies, wlio were destroying our wounded !

You may imagine the talk this has eaused, and will understand
the papers; but the thing was after alla trifle, and by means which
I must give you hercafter we got the panic-struck rogues off with-
out disaster till they rallied, inflicting heavy loss, far exceeding our
owl, on the enemy. _

The country from this to Cabool is the strongoest we have yet
operated in, and a little confusion for a few hundred yards, in a fight
of eleven and a half hours—such it was to us of the rear guard——over

2 Madras officers; Mull is an abbrevintion of Mulligalawny, a Madras invention,
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a dozen miles of roeky mountains, covered with bushes, is nothing
but what might be expected.

I grieve to say that with all but old Havelock, not to be daunted,
and Sale, who does not know the details, and is a bold man more-
over, except Monteath also, and some of the 85th officers &e., a strong
feeling of depression has been produced among men and officers of -
the European and native infantry, and the regular cavalry.

Give the news to Col. Cullen, and he to whom he pleases.

Broadfoot finished his letter by ordering a pipe of Madeira
for the Sapper mess, and after his signature is the following
postseript:

Bengal sepoys are good troops.

My corps Sappers, 600, is:

800 Hindoostanees . . . . brave
200 Goorkhas . . . . . braver
100 Afghans and Fazaras. . . heroes

And all from emnulation beyond their several unmixed countrymen.

Meanwhile at Kabul our evil system of administration
had borne fruit. On November 2, 1841, the outbreak oc- .
curred ; Sir Alexander Burnes, his brother Lieut., Burnes, and
William Broadfoot, were killed in Burnes's house in the city.
The treasury was sacked, and the mob was rewarded to the
extent of 17,000l. The only serious effort to relieve Burnes
and put down the mob wag made by the Shah, and not, as
might have been expected, by the English officers in the can-
tonment. .

The Envoy turned to the General for assistance, but the
latter was wholly unfit from illness to meet the crisis. In-
capacity and imbecility among the senior officers was naturally
followed by demoralisation and cowardice among the troops.
The Envoy in these days of humiliation showed a better spirit
than the military chiefs, but to no purpose: he was obliged
t0 negotiate with the enemy, and became involved in trans-
actions regarding them whiech, if the Afghan account may be
trusted, cost him his life.

He wag, as all know, killed by Akbar Khan at an intex-
view, and before long the Kabul force capitulated.

That army paid dearly for the ervor; with the exception
of the prisoners and hostages in Akbar Khan's hands, and of
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Dr. Brydon, who escaped, they were utterly destroyed in the
passes through which Sale’s brigade had fought its way. The
Einvoy had summoned Nott and Sale to his assistance. The
former was prevented by the season of the ycar and by other
considerations from compliance. When Sale received the
orders he consulted his officers and decided that he could not
obey. This decision has been much guestioned. Durand has
stated that “it was regretted by some of the ablest officers in
his force, foremost among whom was Broadfoot.”® Sir Herbert
Edwardes on the same subject has said :

Of course it will always remain a moot point whether Sale
could have returned or not; and if he had returned, whether it
would have saved the Kabul force. I'rom Sale’s own account it is
probable he could not have returned in a state of efficiency; but
there were at least two men with Sale’s brigade who would have
made all the difference: one—Henry Havelock—who would have
recalled the discipline and spirit of poor Elphinstone’s subordinates,
if mortal man could do it; the other—George Broadfoot—who, in
the last resort, would have dared to supply the army with a leader.t

Whilst Sale’s {force was at Gandamak rumours of the
Kabul outbreak reached them : they are thus alluded to by
Broadfoot in a letter fo Dr. Malcolmson, dated Gundamak,
November 8, 1841 :

.« . Tor a good many days wo have had no communication
with Cabool, and it is of course clear from this that the country we
fought through is again, in whole or in part, closed against us,
We have rumours of the most extraordinary and contradictory nature
as to occurrences at Cabool, all agreeing that there has been an
outbreal there, but differing as to results; some saying we were
besieged, others that the enemy were defeated. Burnes, too, is
asserted to be murdered or a prisoner, besides other officers, and
these latter reporls are credited in camp. They interest me most
deeply, for the few officers living in the city, all of wliom ave said to
liave been destroyed, are : Burnes and his brother, William Broad-
foot, Colin Mackenzie, Capt. Johnson, paymaster, Brigadier Anquetil,
Capt. Troup, and Capt. Trevor of the cavalvy.  William lived with
Burnes in the heart of the city, far from suceour ; they had a
havildar and twelve men as a guard. Next door, Capt. Johnson's
treasury was guarded by a native officer and thirty men. . . . The

8 Wirst Afghan War, p. 360,
v Life of Sir . Lawrence, vol. 1. p. 283, note 4.
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rest were near succour. Now some attempt at Burnes’s house iy pos-
sible ; but unlegs surprised, or unless Burnes might be weak enough
to listen to terms offered and surrender, I believe they would hold
their own, small as their party was, even for twenty-four hours, if
they had ammunition. 1 know what Willlam is as a soldier, and’
from Burnes's confidence in him, I know, too, that he would com-
mand, and surely a first effort of our troops would be their relief. . .

As for us, though short of ammunition and nearly without
money, we may langh ab all Afghanistan if owr troops are rightly
managed, otherwise we have already had proof that the finest troops
may be discouraged to a degree painful to think of. Nay, further,
if we are true to ourselves and manage decently, we can hold out
famously, till relisved from India, even if the whole country rise
against us and our communication with India be closed. But we
must rectify some great errorg in our military arrangements; we
must not be without battering guns in a country studded with mud
forts, and we must have district magazines; one, for example, ab
Jelalabad, which during half the year is, in a military sense, de-
prived of communication with Cabool by the snow, and at all times
sepzua.ted from it by mountains over which it is difficult and fright-
fully expensive to carry stores.

I believe something has been written on the subject, for I spoke
to Havelock yesterday and formerly about the measures of precau-
tion we required, and he concurred and went immediately o move
the Greneral about it. You lmow from former letters how high my
opinion is of Havelock, though it is the fashion here to sneer at him.

When T last wrote I alluded to the discouragement, to speal
mildly, prevailing among all the troops except the Shah’s people,
who are but few here ; an opportunity has occurred to get rid of i,
and again we have the satisfaction of hearing men and officers
speak as they ought of our enemies and themselves. On the 4th,
word was brought in that one of the great lords at court had rebelled.
Meer Ufzul Khan, the Urzbegee, and his son had occupied a fort
about 3% miles from our camp, and was going to raise the country
on ug. Capt. Macgregor, the Political Agent, was at dinner with
us, at the Sapper mess, when he got the final and certain news, and
after a consultation between him, Backhouse, Dawes, and myself,
he went off to urge the General to attack ab once; bubt refurned
late, having totally failed, though he had cited Backhouse's and my
formal opinions; nay, one staff officer (not Havelock) actually pro-
posed retiring to Jelalabad! There were then thirty men in the
fort ! but, of course, likely to increase every hour. Backhouse and
I went, though it was midnight, and turned out Havelock. Ipledged
my character as a soldier to find the means of taking the place, even
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if, as was said, the artillery (which Backhouse and Dawes, excellent
officers of artillery, denied) was too wealk to do its part properly.
Havelock held the same views, but had been overborne. He saw,
however, the necessity of stopping the discouragement, especially
afber talking over owr Jugduluk adventures, and said Lie would do
what he could, We wanted a strong advanced guard to move ab
three o’clock and invest the place at daybreak ; but it then came out,
the General had decided (!) on not attacking, and was listening to
some half-caste, who agsured him the man ® might perhaps not be
hostile ; or, rather, this was the excense. Col. Dennie came in on
hearing (he never sleeps, Ibelieve) us in Havelocl’s tent, and was—
but I must not give you all details ; suffice it to say, the immediate
move Havelock could not accomplish, but he got us off in the after-
noon of the 5th. The encmy fled, firing a few shots on Abbott and
myself reconnoitring ; and though from mismanagement they were
allowed to pass under our noses with slight loss, yet the benefit ig
incalculable. Our own men onee more in spirits for anything, and
the enemy, as well as our own Afghan troops, undeceived as to our
being afraid to come near them. Macgregor, too, has good informa-
tion that only the next day a large reimforcement was to hiave come
in, and the country would have been up.

So now no fear of us : never mind the newspapers. In spite of
what has happened, a finer brigade than Sale now has I would not
desire to see; and if the worst comes to the worst, we shall be dis-
covered here, unable perliaps to domuch from want of ammunition,
but not to be hurt by the enemy. More likely is it, however, that all
will blow over, and then if the Calcutta people act prudently, and
are seconded by good management hore, a little vigour n spring will
make us all the stronger for this outbreak ; and then for a careiul
revision, or rather the formation of a definite system for the reten-
tion of this country on the cheapest terms.

Now send this to Col. Cullen with my kindest regards.
Send, if you can, a copy to England to Mr. Loch with the same
message; and send all or part to Col. Sim, or any friend at
Madras ; but remember there are in this opinions not to get into
the papers, and you know how easily these things go there. Do
you know Lord Llphinstone? I think not. If so, ask Col. Sim
to give him the news. Col. Cullen will, T dave say, do so, bub
the route is circuitous. I would have written to Lord Elphinstone
myself, but, to say the truth, I am worked like a horse, putting up
defences to remedy in some degree the vices of an abominable posi-
tion they have thrust the force into, and must to work. G. B.

5 The man in charge of the fort.
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It may be as well to put a paragraph in the papers to counter-
act the desponding private letters sure to go down. Do not name
me, but say, on authority, we are well ; and having well thrashed -
the enemy, are ready to do so again.

On November 11, Sale’s brigade resumed its march towards
Jalalabad. As carriage was deficient, a quantity of baggage
and stores was left in charge of Capt. Burn, of the Khaibar
corps. This proceeding appears to be inexcusable when it is
remembered that there was then a general rising among the
Afghans, that the Khaibar corps was wavering, and that
Capt. Burn protested strongly against the additional temp-
tation to mutiny and plunder thus supplied.

Nevertheless he and one or two other officers were left to
take their chance, as also were Lieut. Cunningham and a
party of sappers who had been sent to destroy the Mamu Khel
fort.

The brigade showed a disposition to march towards Jala-
labad with more haste than was either becoming or consistent
with the safety of the small detached party.

Backhouse, looking back from the main body, which had
reached Nimla, saw smoke in the direction of Mamu Khel, and
indications that Cunningham was engaged. He told Broad-
foot, who requested him to apply to Col. Monteath for assist-
ance from the rear gunard. First Backhouse and then Broad-
foot went and pointed out the danger of the detachment and
the ample strength of the rear guard, but without result. The
rear guard proceeded on its way, leaving Cunningham and his
few men to shift for themselves.

Late that evening Capt. Burn with some Khaibaris arrived
in full flight, guns and baggage having been abandoned. Along
with them Cunningham’s party came in with ammunition ex-
hausted and having suffered severely. Even on arrival at Sale’s
camp their danger was not over, for not being recognised in
the dark they were received by a volley from the guard. Capt.
Burn, with ready presence of mind, made his bugler sound
¢ Cease firing ;' the order was recognised by Sale’s men, and
the fugitives got safely into camp.

Tor a long time Broadfoot failed to get Cunningham'’s ser-
vices on this occasion properly acknowledged. He at last
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suceeeded so far as to get Sale to publish the following garri-
son order.
(Extract.) Dccember 27, 1841,

The Major-General has also to express his best thanks to Lient.
Dowson, who ably assisted Capt. Gerrard, and to Lieut. Cunning-
ham of the Sappers and Miners, whose perseverance and resolution
in effecting the demolition of the fort appears to the Major-General
deserving of the highest commendation.

On the margin of this order Broadfoot added :

Licut. Cunningham was sent with Sereeant-Major Kelly and
thirty sappers to demolish the fort by mining. In the mean time Gen.
Sale marchied for Jelalabad. The janbaz horse deserted, and the
enemy attacked the party at the fort under Capt. Gerrard. The
fort was set on fire, yet Lieut. C. and his pavty persisted till they
blew up the towers, though often obliged to make new mines from
the flames approaching. On their retreat the jezailchis werc thrown
into confusion ; and the little party of sappers and tlie sowars stand-
ing firm till they rallied alone saved them.

Next day, November 12, the brigade marched from Fateha-
bad to Jalalabad. Col. Dennic commanded the rear guard, in
which, on this oceasion, were the mountain train and all the
sappers.  The enemy eollected before the advance had left the
ground, nobwithstanding which Sale marched off as usual. The
account of the passage of the rear gnard through IFatehabad wasg
written by Baclkhouse, and is exeellent.

The village was crowded with people on the walls and on the
roofs of the houses as the rear guard passed; and although these
apparently unarmed villagers were bent upon having at us imme-
diately they could, without being particularly noticed, join the other
body of snvages hanging on our rear, still they sat as quiet as con-
seious innocence itself while the rear guard passed by and amongst
them. My native officer wished to know why these scoundrels were
not pitched into, for, says he, ¢ they will all fire upon us in less than
five minutes after we get past the village.” Everyone knew this
still our British forbearanee will never allow us to fire upon an
enemy before he has openly declared himself to be such.

The expectation of attack was immediately fulfilled; the
enemy followed the rear on fo a plain and opened a brisk firve.
It is snid that Capt. Oldfield asked permission to charge, but
was refused.  Licut. Mayne's troop was sent back with
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ammunition by Sale; and Backhouse has recorded that Broad-
foot, seeing the opportunity, got Mayne's detachment to join
Oldficld, persuaded the latter to charge without orders, and
promised every support with the sappers. The cavalry drew up
facing the enemy and immediately charged, ¢ Broadfoot and
the sappers endeavouring to keep their pace. . . . The cavalry
soon came to close quarters with the foe, who evidently little
expected such o movement on our part, as they threw away
their firearms instanter, and bolted clean; not, however, un-
scathed, for some sixty or seventy at least bit the dust to rise no
more. This . . . ereated a fine stirring feeling, and, more-
over, put a sudden and most complete stop to any further an-
noyance during this march. . . . Broadfoot and his Sappers,
seeing the cavalry in no need of support, took a line of his own
to hisright, and completely routed the parties on the hills whom
Dawes had opened fire npon. . . .’

The official account of this affair agrees mainly with the
above description, the chief divergence being that in the former
it is stated that Col. Dennie ordered the charge. He at any
rate thanked Capt. Oldfield for it, and Capt. Broadfoot for his
soldierlike and intrepid support of the cavalry.

Jalalabad was reached without further molestation; but
during the night the enemy burnt the cantonments, and in the
morning Sale moved into the town, so hastily and in such con-
fusion as to encourage our enemies and discourage our friends.
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Defence of Jalalabad—Capt. Brondfoot’s report as garrison engineer—Sortics
by the garrison—Extracts from diary: from lelter to Dr. Malecolmson—
Defensive measurcs—Letter to Thoby Prinsep—Rxtracts from diary—
Dr. Brydon—Wild’s failure to forco the Khaibar pass—Couneil of war—
Letter to Havelock—Letter from Havelock—Havelock to Durand—DBrond-
foot’s memorandum—His opposition to the proposed capitulation ultimately
successful.

Tow town of Jalalabad is on the south side of the Kabul river,
a little more than haltway betwcen Kabul and Peshawar. I
was a place of considerable importance with a very fluctuating
population ; though used as the winter residence of the Shah,
its defences were in a state of disrepair and dilapidation.

The following extracts from Capt. Broadfoot’s note on the
defensive works will give an idea of the place as it was when
occupied by Sale :

On November 12, the Major-General commanding, having re.
solved to occupy Jellalabad, directed me with a committee of officers
to examine and report on the works of the place.

The commiftee reported unanimously that they were not then
defensible against a vigorous agsauls,

As will be seen in the accompanying plan, the town is an ir-
regular quadrilateral, having half of the western side salient and
the southern side broken by a deep re-entering angle. It was sur-
rounded on every side with gardens and houses, inclosed fields,
mosques, and ruined forts, affording strong cover to an enemy ;
these were everywhere close to the walls, and in many places con-
nected with them. Beyond these on three sides (N. IE. and W.) at
from 400 to 500 yards run the ruins of the wall of the ancient city,
on which the sand has accumulated so as to form a line of low
heights, giving cover to the largest bodies of men. . . .

Two very solid walls,' 300 yards apart, run from the place to
this bank, thus inclosing on three sides a space probably occupied

' W. W. on the plan,
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originally by the Mogul Emperor’s palace, but found by us to con-
tain a large mosque, and numerous gardens and houses occupied by
fakeers : one of the gates of the town opens into it, and it was
traversed by a waterconrse about ten feet wide, which entered the
town by a tunnel under the vampnrt, large enough to admit several
mmen abreast ; a similar tunnel allowed it to pasg out of the town on
the eastern side.

The walls of the town cxtended about 2,100 yards, without
reckoning the bastions, of which thero were thirty-three. The works
weve of earth and in the usual style of the country, viz. a high
thin rampart, but in a state of ruin, without parapets and without
diteh, covered way, or outworks of any kind.

. . .

To give some idea of the state of the works, T may mention
that, of the committee sent to inspect them on November 18, not
one except mysell succeeded in making the cirenit; large gaps cut
off the cominunication, or insecure footing compelled the officers to
descend among the adjoining inclosures, from which it was difficult
to find the way {to the rampart).

Bale consulted the officers commanding regiments or corps
on three courses whieh were then open,  Fivst, whether to hold
the whole town ; or, second, merely the Bala Hissar and such
part of the town as was necessary ; or, third, whether it might
not be better to withdraw from the town and form an entrenched
camp ontside.

It was eventually deeided to hold the town, and Broadfoot,
as garrison engineer, was required to make it defensible.

This consultation has in some hooks been crroncously re-
ferred to as a council of war; it was mevely a consulmtio.n as
above deseribed.

The position of the garrison was serious ; they were parti-
ally surronnded by the enemy, were short of provisions, and
had on an average only 150 rounds of musket ammunition for
cach man.  The Afghans kept up an irregular fire on the
walls, and oceupied the rocks opposite the south-west bastion,
on which they exceuted a danee o the tunce of a bagpipe.
These rocks were afterwards known as ‘Piper’s Hill.” A sortie
wasarranged, .\\‘lu(‘h, though rather mismanaged, wassuccessiul.
The cax’al}fy killed abont cighty men, the Afghans disappeared,
and on November 16 supplies were received from the other
side of the river.
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Broadfoot was busy repairing and improving the works,
ample nse being found for the tools which he had insisted on
taking with him, which, indeed, had to be supplemented by more
made on the spot. TFood was supplied mainly by means of
the exertions of Capt. Macgregor. 'That officer, in a letter to
Capt. Mackeson, dated November 30, 1841, mentioned that the
Afghans avoided the open plain, but kept up a desultory fire
on the defences. Whilst this was going on at one side of the
town, grain, flour, and other supplics were brought in un-
opposed at the other. Such wasg the Oriental method of con-
ducting a siege.

The enemy returned to close quarters on November 28, and
a second sortie, commanded by Col. Dennie, was organised.
Again the infantry were mismanaged, with the exception of
Broadfoot’s Sappers, who drove the enemy from the inclosures
along the Kabul face of the fort, and took Piper’s Hill, killing
eight or ten of them. The cavalry, as before, did well, and had
they been supported by the infantry the results would have
been more decisive. As it was, the garrison was unmolested
for a long time, and the enemy applied to Kabul for a rein-
forcement of 1,500 cavalry; ‘a tacit but very handsome com-
pliment to our 200 horse under Oldfield and Mayne, although
the General saw no necessity of mentioning their services in
his order of thanks.’?

The entries in Broadfoot’s small diary kept at this time are
for the most part dry records of work done, but occasion-
ally there are references to other matters of interest. On
December 14 he appears to have heard from Macgregor of
Williawn Broadfoot’s death.  The entry is: ¢Alas! my fears
were true ; he fell with Burnes on November 2. My noble and
beloved William. On that day twelvemonth James was slain.
Bitterness of heart is my portion, and, alas! for home.” On
the 16th he recorded :

The General still interfering with parties about loopholes, for
whicli his mania continues. A report in to-day that our troops ab
(Cabool have been driven from the cantonment to the Dala Hissar.
Another by a man sent on purpose to spread it, that a capitulation
has taken place, and our froops are in full retreat on this place. The
latter absurd ; butif true we are bound by no capitulation they make.

* Packhouse’s dinry,
boi
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December 18,—At the works ag yesterday, Heard from Cabool,
the letters dated the 10th, from Sir W. Macnaghten and Lady Sale.
All inactive since the 23rd, only three ‘days’ supplies: rumour said
the Candahar reinforcements were near, but no certain accounts.

More details of the events of the 28rd ult. Colin Mackenzie
again wounded. The cavalry charged through owr infantry. The
loss of our troops was very small, not enough to account for their tor-
pidity. The Envoy complains of their inaction : the General urges
the Envoy to capitulate.

It would be insanity to do so. They would inveigle our troops
into the passes, and on the horses dying of hunger and cold would
attack them, seize the guns, and starve or massacre the men reduced
by want of food, shelter, or fuel.

The Envoy wishes to postpone capitulation to the last. It is
wrong to judge on insufficient information, but grievous errorg seem
to have been committed ; may they not be fatal! '

Why were not the troops concentrated from the first, and a pitched
battle fought with all our strength ? On November 23, it seems,
eighteen companies of infantry and some cavalry sallied under Bri-
gadier Shelton. Cavalry, 5,000 it is said, charged and rode through
their ranks and back again. A fresh troop of the 5th Cavalry charged
the enemy’s horse and recovered the gun. We pursued the enemy,
who rallied, and forced us to retire to the cantonments. Since then
nothing has been done: the numbers of the enemy are less, but their
boldness 1s greater.

Capt. Woodburn was on hig way to Cabool with about 100 men
when the ingurrection broke out. He was attacked, but threw him-
self into a fort, which lie defended till his ammunition failed, when
he capitulated, on the enemy swearing on the Koran to keep faith.
He and his men were no sooner in the enemy’s hands than they
were murdered. Woodburn was reckoned the best officer in the
Shah’s service. DMacgregor considers'it probable the military will
drive Sir W. Macnaghten to grant Mahomed Acbar the terms we heard
of, viz. Shah Shooja to reign, with Dost Mahomed as his minister.

December 19.—Heard of Sir W. Macnaghten’s answer to the
enemy on their proposing Dost Mahomed’s recall, our departure for
Peshawar, and on news of that being done, their returning to the
provinees under a Barukzye escort: our people to lay down their arms
at once, and give up the married men and their families as hostages.
Sir William replied, ¢ Death is better than dishonour: we trust in
the God of battles, and in His name bid you come on.’ 3

3 It is said that this reply was Colin Mackenzie. Storms and Syn-
suggested to Sir W. Macnaghten by  shine of a Soldier's Lafe, vol, i, p. 285.
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With thisspirit they will do well yet; but, unliippily, the military
authorities ave said not to share it.

December 23.—Among the people the report is vife that the
Iinvoy has capitulated. Altogether improbable—incredible; it would
be insanity; but all reports seem to concur as to somo accommoda-
tion having taken place. Macgregor probubly guesses rightly thas
Mahomed Acbhar Khan, finding himself but a secondary person, has
made his own terms with us, and that thus the robellion is broken
up, or at least disunion produced.

Was asled by some ofticers of the 13th, whether I saw any of the
fighting in the Khoovrd Cabool pass! This from men whom we pre-
ceded ; who were not even in sight while the Sappers and Dawes’s
guns (the latter unable to act) were alone dislodging the enemy from
his prineipal positions ! This is indeed the bubble reputation.

Received 160 pounds more of country powder. I am promised
some sulphur and saltpetre by a Hindoo, but it must come from
Balabagh, and Mecr Ufzul, Nazir, with a few horsemen, is stopping
the road. Iverything is difficult for want of money. Macgregor
complains bitterly of Mackeson, but is now, happily, beginning not
to lean on him. Hard frost, weather delightful,

December 24.—The road across the town, from the Cazee bas-
tion, is a great improvement, or will be if finished. One side can
now support the other with reinforcements in a moderate time. A
few hours’ worlc will finish the right flank and face, but to-morrow
is Christmas Day and a general holiday. Seventy-five camel-loads
of barley and Indian corn arvived for the cattle ; they are very ill
off for forage. There is a good deal in the country, but we want
noney.

Gtool Shalr and Uslum Ihan, with others, nrging me to conmmit
to them the revenge of William's death. The former wants leave
t0 go as soon as he can be spared to murder Ameenoollah Khan,
Logarce. Alas! poor William, just are their praises of thee—
valinnt, generous, and gentle wert thon indeed.

December 25, Christmas Day.—A Tioliday for all hands.  Dined
with the 18th T..I. No news in. Wrote to Maleolmson.

The following extracts are from this letter :

Since I last wrote, little has ecenrred here, and we have had no
news from Cabool, thongh rumours of every kind abound. . . .

In the mean time, we are busy putting up defences, and, though
executed very roughly, they are already becoming formidable
against sueh encmics as aro likely to oppose us. The work has
been, and continues to be, a great one. Tlie walls were ruinons,

and, in a great portion of the eircnmfercnee, more accessible from
w2
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the outside than the inside. This is already all changed. Nothing
can be more admirable than the cheerfulness and goodwill with
which the troops labour. Never was a finer body of men assembled.
Confidence, oo, is greatly restored, and we are tolerably well off for
provisions. Had we but money we should be all right, but we
have none, though some, I hear, has at last been despatched from
Peshawur,

We have also got a small quantity of powder from the neigh-
bowrhood, and are getting houses [built] for the troops. ~Altogether,
we are getting into that state which would render it clearly our
duty to hold our ground here, whatever may be determined on at
Cabool. But I trust they will submit to no unworthy terms.

My health is good : the work from the first day till now I have
taken great interest in; in fact, were it not for the bitter loss of
William, I should be happy, for I am actively employed, and cannot
but feel myself, or at least hope, I am useful.

I have some thought of publishing a short statement of our
operations (that ig this force—not the Cabool people), at any rate I
shall draw one out, and you shall see it, Havelock is going to
publish also, and I shall give him plans, sections, &c., and show
him the paper I write.

People seem to think here I am one of those sure of the
brevet-majority and C.B. It may be so, and I should certainly be
gratified exceedingly were it so, for I should feel conscious of at
least trying to deserve it ; but the want of William, and the thought
of the sorrow at home, embitter every thought of the future. How
he would have shone in the present gloom at Cabool !

I hear there is an ‘ Tinglishman ’ paper in (I have not seen it),
saying we must have succumbed before succowrs ean reach. Do
not fear for us. This foree if rightly managed will hold its own.
It was indeed once in a bad way, but, as I wrote you at the time,
it would have been our own fault had it been destroyed. We
could always, if we had not got provisions, have fought our way to
meet our reinforcements; and now, if we manage well, we could
sustain /ere the attack of all Afghanistan. Despondency has been .
our chief danger here. Do not let it extend to India, or evil might
indeed befall. And make them keep off a Burmese war. But I
forget you are out of the way of all these things in the far West.

December 26.—At work as before. Opened a road from the
new bastion to the Cazee bastion, a most useful work. News-

" papers in from India—the General's despatches—the Sappers never

mentioned! General indignation thereat—spoke to Havelock and
‘Wade pretty freely regarding it.
December 27.—Trying to make the best of the vicious tracing
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of these old works., Treasure 25,000 rs. arrived from Peshawur at
last, brought by horsemen in the service of Torabaz Khan. More
on the road. The horsemen seemed much astonished at the works
we have put up.

The first brigade of the reinforcements arrived at Peshawur on
the 24th. Clerk’s sending on these reinforcements was a vigorous
and wise measure. The objects to be gained justified risking them
in the Punjab. We have to a certain extent saved ourselves, bub
we owed much to the knowledge the Afghans had that these troops
were on their way. It encouraged our friends, and gradually dis-
heartened the enemy.

Have had no time to write to anyone. No news from Cabool.

Cunningham and Gerrard at length noticed m orders? for the
Mamoo Khel affair. This is in consequence of a letter (official) sent
in by Backhouse, remonstrating on the neglect of it hitherto. The
General uses my words regarding Cunningham persevering in the
mining when the place was on fire. It was paid no attention fo
formerly.

December 28.—At work as usual. Lost the morning in going
round the place with Col. Monteath to choose an encamping
ground for the troops coming up. The Colonel does not willingly
adopt suggestions, as I found at Khoord Cabool, where it required
poor Jenkins’s death and the loss of many men to convinee him how
faulty was the position of the right picket. Ile agreed to occupy
the rocks, but declined placing the troops so that the fort and
they could help cach other; and gave reasons which told more
strongly against his position than the other.” However, I obeyed
orders in going. Rain fell, and I got wet: not very well at night.

The entries regarding the next few days refer as usual to
the progress which was being made with the defensive works.
A report, afterwards confirmed, of the murder of Sir W.
Maenaghten is also noticed. With reference to the effect this
news might have, Broadfoot wrote : ¢ Al T fear is panic in our
leaders, and consequently in the troops.  Weare strong if thab
be kept oft; strong enough to do great deeds. Reinforcements
are at Peshawnr. In a week or ten days they should be here,
and if my voice can do anything to urge our leaders, we shall
then resume, what with such enemies should seldom be aban-
doned, the offensive.’

1 See p. 45. the position he wished to put the

% Means apparently thatthereasons  troops in than against the one advo-
given by Monteath told morc against cated by Capt. Broadfoot,
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January 1, 1842.—Little doubt seems to be now entertained
of Sir W. Macnaghten’s fate. They must have had very hard work
at Cabool; we shall no doubt hear of great suffering and much
heroism when the communication is reopened. Poor Trevor was a
fine fellow. Wade spoke to-day of a report of the state of the
works, and mention of the Sappers. . . . Spoke to Havelock about it.
Wrote to Thoby Prinsep.

The first part of the letter referred to has already been
quoted ; ® the second, with the exception of a long postscript,
may now appropriately follow.

You of course know all our news from Macgregor's communica-
tions. The reinforcements are soon expected; and as to the Khyber,
if they cannot force that they are hardly worth having, or rather
their commanders might be spared; but the Khyberees will, we
hope, not oppose. The rumours of poor Macnaghten’'s murder are
confirmed from every side, and the details reported you of course
know. I am truly sorry for him; he was a kind man, and specially
so to me as a friend of yours. Ilis late firmness, too, redeemed
many errors. They have had a severe struggle at Cabool, and
still have ; but if they are only well handled, and in each effort
exert all their strength, they will deliver themselves. If they con-
tinue in jeopardy, their relief must be our care. A winter march is
an undertaking of great difficulty ; but nothing is impossible with
forethought, due preparation, and calm obstinate courage. DBut
these are rare qualities, all wanting here; gallantry and right-
heartedness we have, but not the nerve to look the very worst in
the face, and by preparing, or even unprepared, to meet it unshaken.
I have crossed the Alps twice in different parts in winter, and
have travelled in German mountaing in snow, and once had to
travel on foot the Apennines also, and I was born in the latitude of
St. Petersburg. The dangers, and the means of meeting them, of
a winter expedition I have therefore some notion of ; scarcely another
man here hag, and while the majority speak of the attempt in a way
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